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CORNER MARKET AND MAIN STREETS, 1859.

Published by the Norwich Board of Trade.



T!!5F.A.WellsCo.

The Clothing Store

With a Reputation.

Honest Goods,

Well Made,

Fair Price.

Last year, this year, and as

long as we do business at

84 Main St,

NORWICH, CONN.

B.P.I£ilBP&GO.,
DOWN STAIRS

28 Shetucket St.,

NORWICH, COON.

Insurance for

Everything Insurable.

Agency Established

May, 1486.

THe L. H. GHLLUP CO.,

Wholesale

Grocers

AND

Coffee Roasters.

31 and 33 Water Street.

NORWICH, CONN.

Established 1866-1907 incorporated

TteGeoJ.KiesCo.
is the oldest established shoe
store in Norwich. We are the
manufacturers' agents for the
following well known makers
of high-grade shoes

:

GROVER'S
Soft Shoes for Tender Feet.

JOHN H. CROSS,

LOUNSBURY & SOULE,

QUEEN QUALITY,
Famous Shoes for Women.

Hurley, Stetson, Douglas.

Special Bunion Shoe tor Men and

Women, and our own

SPECIAL SHOE at $3.50 and $4.00.



THE NORWICH BOARD OF TRADE QUARTERLY

Hopkins & Allen
TRIPLE ACTION

7.50

Safety Police Revolver

The Hopkins & Allen Arms Co.,

NORWICH, CONN.

The Crescent

FireArms Co.
MANUFACTURERS OF

Shot Guns
Factory

:

NORWICH, CONN.

Salesrooms :

314 BROADWAY,
NEW YORK.



Tim NORIVICU BOARD OP TRADE QUARTERLY

C. M. WILLIAMS,

General Contractor

and Builder.

Mill Work Estimates

A Specialty. Furnished.

Office: 218 MAIN STREET,
NORWICH, CONN.

Alien County Public Library

900 Webster Street

PC Box 2270

Fort Wayne. IN 46801-2270



THE NORWICH BOARD OF TRADE OVARTERLY

The Thames
National Bank

ESTABLISHED 1825.

Capital,

$1,000,000.

a:

Surplus,

$850,000.

President,

STEPHEN B. MEECH.

Vice-President,

WILLIS A. BRISCOE.

Cashier,

CHARLES W. GALE.

Assistant Cashiers,

HENRY L. BENNETT,
NATHAN A. GIBBS.

DIRECTORS.

HENRY H. GALLUP, JOHN C. AVERILL,

CHARLES L. HUBBARD, CHARLES W. GALE,

ARTHUR H. BREWER, JOHN PORTEOUS,

STEPHEN B. MEECH, WILLIAM B. YOUNG,

WILLIS A. BRISCOE, WATERMAN R. BURNHAM,
OLIVER L. JOHNSON, JOHN ECCLES.



THE NORWICH BOARD OF TRADE QUARTERLY

S. P. Keppler & Son,

practical Sailor.

99 Main Street. Telephone.

GEORGE A. KEPPLER, Prop.

Broadway Pharmacy,
ENGLER & SMITH.

The Popular Corner Drug Store,

PURE DRUGS, LOW PRICES.
PRESCRIPTIONS A SPECIALTY.

Expert Dispenser at our Soda Fountain.

Corner Broadway and Main Street.

G. P. POOLER, "Grocer"
252-8 Franklin Street,

AND ALL OTHER

FIRST-CLASS GROCERIES.
We are interested not only in having

your orders, but in giving you good serv-

ice. We can satisfy the most particular.

GIVE US A CHANCE TO PROVE IT.

Telephone 524.



THE NORWICH BOARD OP TRADE QUARTERLY

No, 458.

The First

National Bank,
NORWICH, CONN.

Capital, - - $300,000

Surplus, - - $60,000

President, \
FRANKLIN S, JEROME. \

Cashier, \

C. LESLIE HOPKINS. \

Ass't Cashier,

EDWARD H. TIBBITS.

Depositary of the United States, State of

Connecticut, County of New London,

Town and City of Norwich.

Letters of Credit and Foreign Drafts Issued,

Available in all Parts of the World.



THE NORWICH BOARD OF TRADE QUARTERLY

We have been in the same location

since 1 854,

The Vaughn Foundry Co.,

IRON CASTINGS.
11 to 25 FERRY ST. NORWICH.

''ANNIVERSARY BOOTS''
Sorosis Boots for Ladies,

Walkover Shoes for Men,
Sold only by

THE JAMES F. COSGROVE CO.,
206 Main Street.

Diamonds

We make a

specialty of and
carry a large

stock of both
mounted and
loose Dia-
monds, and
will mount
them to order
while you wait,

to suit the cus-
tomer.

Watcies

We have been

headquarters

for all Reliable

Makes of

American

Watches in

cases to suit

the customer.

This is a store that the business was established in 1877. We keep an
Up-to-date stock of all articles usually obtained in a jewelry store.

My Graduated Optician will examine your eyes, Free of Charge.

ALL REPAIRING DONE PROMPTLY.
Agent for the AUTOMATIC VACUUM CLEANER.

H. R. WOODWARD, The Star Jeweler,

134 Main Street, Norwich.



THE NORWICH BOARD OF TRADE QUARTERLY

The Scott & Clark Corporation,

I

VEHICLE BUILDERS,
\

ANYTHING ON WHEELS AUTOMOBILE WORK
BUILT TO ORDER. A Specialty.

507 to 515 NORTH MAIN STREET.

<^^ts» For Groceries ^̂ kt^
^^^^ TRADE WITH ^^^^

The Great Atlantic and Pacific Tea Company.
LARGEST PURCHASING POWER IN THE UNITED STATES. 350 STORES.

LOWEST PRICES ALL THE YEAR AROUND FOR BEST GOODS.

TEA and COFFEE Our Specialty.

^^gjfibw 135 Main Street, .^i^^
^«jP^ NORWICH, CONN. '^Jl^

Telephone 133.

STEAM and HOT WATER HEATING.
SANITARY PLUMBING. GAS FITTING.

HIGH PRESSURE STEAM WORK.

Specialties of all kinds for

STEAM, WATER and GAS.

Pipe Cutting to Sketch by Power
Machinery.

Mill Supplies. Write^us for Prices.

Robert Brown Estate,

55, 57 and 59 West Main St., Norwich, Conn.



THE NORWICH BOARD OF TRADE QUARTERLY

H. BLACKLEDGE & CO.,

Contractors, Builders |J Painters.

AGENTS FOR COLONIAL PAINTS.

Dealers in Lumber, Wall Papers, Painters' Supplies.

25-27 SEVENTH STREET.

PARTICULAR
people trade here because they know
the satisfaction which comes from so

doing. Those who trade here find

everything right--the goods, the price

and the service.

H. M. LEROU CO.,
Prescription Druggists.

276 WEST MAIN ST.

Telephone 264, Office or Residence.

M. V. MURPHY,

Agents for Floral Designs and Grave Vaults.

353 Main Street, opp. Post Office,

NORWICH, CONN.
Calls answered day or night. Lady Assistant.

Funeral Director,

70 FRANKLIN ST.

/

XoTmc\\ S\em iauwdr^ Co.,

Vh% 'SxaxvVW.xv Street



THE NORWICH BOARD OF TRADE QUARTERLY

The Dime Savings Bank

of Norwich,
No. 40 MAIN STREET.

Amounts from Ten Cents to Five Hundred Dollars re-

ceived on deposit, and interest allowed from the first of each

month on sums of one dollar or more deposited on or before

the first business day. Deposits and withdrawals can be

made by mail and will receive prompt attention.

DIVIDENDS

:

MAY AND NOVEMBER.

Deposits May 1, 1909, - - $2,705,371.92

President, FRANCIS J. LEAVENS.

Vice-Presidents.

WILLIAM C. OSGOOD, WATERMAN R. BURNHAM,
GARDINER GREENE.

Directors.

NICHOLAS TARRANT, VINE S. STETSON. WILLIAM H. YOUNG,
FRANK L. WOODARD, GEORGE A. DAVIS, JAMES H. WELLES,
REUBEN S. BARTLETT, N. DOUGLAS SEVIN, JOSEPH D. HAVILAND.

Secretary and Treasurer, FRANK L. WOODARD.
Assistant Treasurer, JOHN H. PERKINS.

Counsel and Attorney, GARDINER GREENE.

Bank is open from 10 A. M. to 3 P. M., every business day except

Saturday. Closed Saturday afternoon.
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M. J. FIELDS,

Florist.
Cut Flowers and Funeral Forms

A Specialty.

39 WARD STREET.

L. S. Manchester,

Bicycles,
Phonographs.

10 Broadway.

TELEPHONE.

T. F. BURNS,
Heating and

Plumbing,

92 FRANKLIN STREET,

NORWICH.

EVERYBODY WELCOME AT

Clothiers and Furnishers.

WAUREGAN HOUSE BLOCK.

CRANSTON & CO.,
JOBBERS AND RETAILERS.

Books, Stationery and Periodicals,

Blank Books and Office Fittings,

Typewriter Supplies, Card In-

dexes, Kodaks and Photo-
graphic Goods.

158 MAIN STREET,
NORWICH, CONN.

ROGERS'
Domestic Laundry

Will do your work in first-class

shape. Give me a trial order.

FRED C. ROGERS,
Proprietor,

Rear 37 Franklin St.

Telephone 903-2.

NORWICH
PAPER BOX CO,,

S, E. BLIVEN, Pfopfietor,

103 Broadway,

William Blackburn,

BLACKSMITHING,

General Wood and Iron

Worker.

MACHINE FORGING A SPECIALTY.

No. 15 Myers Alley.



THE NORWICH BOARD OF TRADE QUARTERLY

A concern that has had in its employ an executive for thirty-
five years is a rarity. A firm that has had on its pay-roll an em-
ploye for fifty years is practically unheard of. But a business
that has been successfully conducted for a period of nearly 150
years is entirely v^ithout precedent. Yet all of the above and
more is true of The Eaton Chase Company, which was founded
in 1764 and has since continued an unbroken, successful and
honorable business career. It is true that the name has not al-

ways been The Eaton Chase Company but that is because men
do not live to be 150 years old. As the succeeding generations
have taken up the active management their names have been
identified with the title. Yet in these 150 years since the busi-
ness was founded by the Breeds and carried on by their descend-
ants only three other names have appeared in the firm style.

Thus from John Breed the control passed to his partner,
Amos W. Prentice, both mayors of Norwich, and Mr. Prentice's
son-in-law, Mr. Chase, is still actively engaged in the business.
There are but few larger concerns in the same line in New
England and none outside of the largest cities.

In addition to Hardware, Mill Supplies, Paints, Seeds, Farm-
ing Tools, and Household Ware, The Eaton Chase Company
carry on an extensive contracting business in the electric line.

They are agents for The Westinghouse Electric & Mfg. Co.
(Motors), The Colonial Electric Company (Lamps), and The
Enos Company (Fixtures). They are rated as jobbers by The
American Steel & Wire Co., The Phoenix Horse Shoe Co., The
Morse Twist Drill & Machine Co., The Union MetaUic Car-

tridge Co., The New Jersey Wire Cloth Co., The Sherv^^in-Will-

iams Co. (Paints), S. P. Townsend Co. (Lavv^n Mowers), Le-

Page's Glue Co., The Meriden Cutlery Co., Russell & Erwin Mfg.
Co. (Builders' Hardware), United Lead Co., R. E. Dietz Co.

(Lanterns), and others.

The business is largely jobbing and a traveling representa-

tive visits all the towns of New London and Windham Counties.

The store premises at 129 Main Street comprise over half

an acre of floor space. There are twenty-five employes.

The ofEcers are Albert H. Chase, president; Luther S. Eaton,

vice-president; Frederic W. Cary, secretary; Herbert B. Cary,

treasurer ; and Thomas B. Leahy who is active in the manage-
ment. The authorized capital stock is $75,000.00.

ESTABLISHED 1764.

The Eaton Chase Co., 129 Main Street, Norwich.

HARDWARE MERCHANTS. ELECTRICAL CONTRACTORS.
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N. S. Gilbert & Sons,

137-141 MAIN STREET.

"Where stocks are most complete

and prices always favorable.'^

We cordially invite you to visit our large

warerooms and inspect the finest line of

Furniture,

Carpets,

Wall Papers,

to be found in Eastern

Connecticut.

ESTABLISHED 1862.

Yerringtons
Temple of Music

49 Main Street.

HIGH GRADE

PIANOS
Wall Papers,

WindowShades,
and all

Popular Music,

Ponemah IWills,

IVIanufaetapers of

IllDlfl liilWliS,

TflFTl/miiE, - - COHN.

Geo. A. Davis
THE LARGEST

STATIONERY STORE IN EASTERN

CONNECTICUT.

We carry a full line of

Books, Stationery, Blank
Books, Office Supplies,

Waterman Fountain Pens,

Ink, Pencils, Leather Goods,
Cameras and Kodak Sup-
plies.

We do
Copper-plate Engraving

and Printing.

GEO. A. DAVIS,
25, 27 and 29 Broadway.



THE NORWICH BOARD OF TRADE QUARTERLY

FRANK SPICER,
Dealer in

FINE GROCERIES,
Flour, Tea, Coffee,

Spices, &c.

118 Water Street,

Rockwell Building.

E. J. JONES
Dentist.

35 Shetucket Street.

A. T. Otis & Son,

High Grade
Groceries.

72 Franklin Street.

William F. Hill,
Room 9,218 Main St., Somers Bros' Bldg.,

NORWICH, CONN.

Fire Insurance and

Real Estate Office.

MABREV'S
Restaurant
and Caterer.

We serve the best DINNER in the
city every day for 35 cents.

ICE CREAM
by the plate or packed to send out.

57 Broadway, opp. V. iV\. C A.

BRADY & SAXTON,
GENERAL STORE,

Jobbers and Dealers in

Wool Dress Goods, Seconds

and Remnants, Broadcloths,

Carriage and Billiard

Cloths.

MILO R. WATERS,

Printer,

1 03 Broadway,
Norwich, Conn.

Elijah Tracy,

Meats and
Groceries.

Rents Collected and Property Managed,

Fire Insurance in Firsts-Class Companies.

127 West Main Street.
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R F. BRAY,

Drugs and
Chemicals,

Toilet and Fancy Articles.

Central Ave., Cor. 5th, Kelly Block.

ISORWICH, CJOINIV.

^ Providence Bakery ^
Telephone 26-5.

MAHONEY BROTHERS

Hack and

Livery Stables

Opp. C.V.R.R. Station, Falls Ave.

Established for over
Sixty Years.

John 6c Geo. H. Bliss
MAKE A SPECIALTY OF GIVING

Full Value
TO EVERY CUSTOMER.

Robert W. Otis,

Dealer in

Groceries and

Provisions.
303 West Main Street.

Telephone Connection.

STANTON & TYLER,
Established in 1870.

Tea, Coffee and
Spices,

58 Main Street.
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Lumber,

Doors, Windows, Etc.

COAL
OF ALL KINDS,

The Edward Chappell Co.

NORWICH, CONN.

CENTRAL WHARF : BRANCH OFFICE :

46 to 76 West Main St. 150 Main St.

TELEPHONES 24 or 145.

2
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JOHN A. DUNN, Pharmacia,

50 MAIN STREET, - - - NORWICH, CONN.

STEAMSHIP TICKETS
to or from all parts of the world,

DRAFTS and TRAVELERS' CHECKS
for sale at lowest rates.

American and European Plan.

HAYES BROS., Proprietors. 26—28 BROADWAY.

FRED C. CROWELL,
DEALER IN

Doors, Sash and Bliocis,
Window Frames, Mouldings, Columns and Stair Finish.

WOOD MANTLES a Specialty.

8? WATER ST., NORWICH, CONN.

The Latest Styles
In Woolens shown for Suits or Overcoats. Our prices are

right, quality and workmanship the best.

,
CALL AND SEE US.

THE JOHNSON CO., Merchant Tailors,

65 BROADWAY, NORWICH, CONN.
CHAPMAN'S BUILDING.

COLORS,
PAINTS,
VARNISHES,
BRUSHES,
GLASS,



THE NORWICH BOARD OP TRADIi OUARTIIRLY

Xm Mon County

mutual fire Insurance

Company,
OR NORWICH, CONN.

SIXTY-NINTH ANNUAL STATEMENT,
JANUARY 1st, 1909.

Total Income for year 1908, - $65,264.70

Gross Assets, January 1st, 1909, 256,517.78

Surplus Over All Liabilities, - 170,121.72

Losses Paid Since Organization, 642,582.84

H. H. GALLUP, President. W. F. LESTER, Secretary.

W. H. PROTHERO, Treas. and Asst. Secy.
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1 i

J Wauregan House, 1

^ NORWICH, CONN.
S 1

American and European Plan

LADIES' AND GENTLEMEN'S
GRILL ROOMS OPEN
UNTIL MIDNIGHT.

-ALSO- <|

Crocker House, f
NEW LONDON, CONN. ^

J American and European Plan

J The Parker-Davenport Co., ^
^ Proprietors. ^

M. Hourigan,

COMPLETE

Home Furnisher.

fFawford
^^(ooWng-Rsjiges

Funeral Director and

Embalmer.

62-66 Main St.

FARRELL & SANDERSON, Proprietors.

Telephone 32-2.

Mrs. R. Thumm,
DELICATESSEN,
AND MANUFACTURER OF

Bologna and Sausage
71-73 FRANKLIN ST.,

NORWICH, CONN.
Telephone Connection. Opposite Bulletin Office.

The ''RevoV
$3.50 Shoes

For Men and Women.

BARROWS, The Shoeman.
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E^ablished in 1842.

Rubber Goods.

SickRoom Supplies.

Tooth, Nail and
Hair Brushes.

Toilet Articles

of all kinds.

Thermometers.

Medicine Cases,

Etc.

1842—1909
67 Years.

OUR MOTTO
FOR 67 YEARS :

''From first to last—abso-
lutely the Best—and this

accounts for our success"

Proprietors of

Dodd's Nervine.
Dr. Button's Donna
Syrup.

Osgood's Jamaica Gin-
ger.

Lee's Pills.

Lee's White Pine and
Tar Syrup.

Lee's Laxative Cold
Tablets.

Lee's Beef, Iron and
Wine, Etc.

THE GIBRALTAR OF THE DRUG TRADE
OF NEW ENGLAND.

W. B. YOUNG
Manager.

OSCAR LOWMAN,
Ass't Manager
and Chemist.TheLee&Osgood Co.

Wholesale and Retail Druggists
and Manufacturing Pharmacists.

A MOST SELECT STOCK OF DRUGS, CHEMICALS, TOILET
ARTICLES, SICK ROOM SUPPLIES, PAINTS,

OILS AND GLASS.

PRESCRIPTIONS A SPECIALTY.

131 and 133 MAIN ST. 150-152 WATER ST.
NORWICH, CONN.

Thorough drug training, extensive drug store experience, and practical
knowledge of the drug trade, enables us to maintain the standard of this
pharmacy at the highe^ possible point of efficiency.

The NAME of LEE & OSGOOD CO. on a bottle or package is in itself

a STAMP OF PURITY. Convince yourself.

Are you ready for the 250th Anniversary 7 This is an occasion when
every one wishes to FEEL THEIR BEST. Never has this great helpful
store been so completely and thoroughly prepared, at such a time, to
supply every possible want or need of man or woman. Every facility of
this great in^itution, and all its remarkable advantages, are at your com-
mand—to the end that you may feel in perfect health and your satisfaction

secure.

The Rose of New England,
OUR LATEST PERFUME.

The Product of our own Laboratory.

A lasting and delicate odor, possessing something which perhaps is

the very BOUQUET you are looking for. OUR AIM is to have the ROSE
OF NEW ENGLAND perfume on the handkerchief of every lady in New
England. BE SURE AND PAY US A CALL.

LEE & OSGOOD CO., Norwich, Conn.
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TT/^tjg-\ ^ ^Your Clothier, Hatter
rr mIU o and Furnisher?

Moran,
Corner Main and Shetucket Street.

JAMES W. SEMPLE,

Groceries,
Provisions,
Fruit, Etc.

Telephone. Corner Eighth Street and Central Avenue.

J. a WORTH & CO.
COMMISSION MERCHANTS IN

Fruit and Produce,
50 to 56 Market Street, Norwich, Conn.

THE E. A. BARDOL & CO.,

157 and 159 Main Street, Norwich, Conn.

I

5 and 1 Oc. Store.

Fancy Goods, Specialties, &c.
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FERGUSON & CHARBONNEAU,
Watches, Clocks, Jewelry

and Silverware,

First-Class Engraving.

No. 239 Main Street, Franklin Square.

Telephone 831.

TROY STEAM LAUNDRY,
A. FOURNIER, Prop.

143-145 Little Water Street,

NORWICH, CONN.

John F. Tompkins,

Plumbing and
Heating,

67 West Main Street.

ALFRED HUNT

'3Vofvs\

110 Lafayette Street,

Next Backus Hospital,

Telephone 130.

DISCO BROS.,

The Leading Store for Rich Cut

Glass, Silverware, Fine China
and Art Pottery,

267-271 Main St., - NORWICH, CONN.
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The Chelsea

Savings Bank
Temporarily at 61 Broadway,

NORWICH, CONN.

Incorporated 1858.

ASSETS, $8,907,059.58

DIVIDENDS

:

March and September.

Deposits made the first business day of any month

will draw interest from that date ; all other deposits

will draw interest from the first day of the next suc-

ceeding month.
OFFICERS.

President, EDWARD HARLAND.
VICE-PRESIDENTS.

HENRY H. GALLUP, JOHN C. AVERILL,
CHARLES H. PRESTON.

DIRECTORS.
CHARLES E. CHANDLER, HENRY G. PECK,
WINSLOW T. WILLIAMS, WILLIS AUSTIN,
ARTHUR J. DAWLEY, CHARLES B. CHAPMAN,
FRANK W. BROWNING, OLIVER L. JOHNSON,

ARCHIBALD MITCHELL.

ATTORNEY.
WALLACE S. ALLIS.

SECRETARY AND TREASURER.
CHARLES B. CHAPMAN.
ASSISTANT TREASURER.

FRANK HEMPSTEAD.
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Uncas
National Bank,

42 SHETUCKET STREET.

Organized under the Free Banking Law of 1852. Incorporated

by General Act, 1852.

Capital Stock, - - $100,000
Surplus, -$20,000

OFFICERS.
PRESIDENT,

WALLACE S. ALLIS.

CASHIER, VICE-PRESIDENT,

JAS. H. WELLES. JOHN C. PERKINS.

ASST. CASHIER,
WILLIS AUSTIN.

DIRECTORS,
JOHN C. PERKINS, ARTHUR J. DAWLEY,
WALLACE S. ALLIS, CHARLES H. PRESTON,
JAMES H. WELLES, CHARLES D. WHITE,
ARTHUR D. LATHROP, W. H. ALLEN.

GROSVENOR ELY.

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found
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SCHWARTZ BROS.,
The Modern Home Furnishers'*

You will find there Price and Quality,

9-11 Water Street, Washington Square,

NORWICH, CONN.

JOHN H. FORD,

ICE,
233 Main Street.

Rose
Bowling Alleys,

Bowling, Pool

and Billards,

49 Shetucket Street.

G. E. HODGE,

Hack, Livery, Boarding

and Feeding Stable,

I4--20 BATH STREET.

JOHN JORDAN,

Choice Family
Groceries and
Provisions,

88 Central Wharf.

The Old Norwich Tea Store
AND

Circulating Library,
164 iVlain Street.

Leaders with good things to eat.

What we don't have, you don't want.

SOMFRS BROS.



\
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The 250th Anniversary of Norzvich
finds the Town prosperous, and the

GOTTHELF store more popular
than ever.

SHOP AT GOTTHELF'S AND

**Save the Savings."

A full line of wearing necessities

for Women, Misses, Children and
Infants can always be found here.

B. GOTTHELF & CO., *'The Store of Good Values,"

94-- 100 MAIN STREET.

1841 Charles Osgood & Co. ^1^09^

|

Wholesale

Drug and Paint

Dealers.

Largest

Paint Distributors in

Connecticut.
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THE BOSTON STORE

The Quality

Department Store
OFEASTERN CONNECTICUT,

THIS STORE STARTED THE SEASON
WITH PRACTICALLY

COMPLETE

NEW STOCKS.
We extend a cordial welcome to visit our enlarged

Third Floor — Devoted to Carpets, Rugs, Upholstery,

Trunks, Suit Cases, Bags, Etc. Opportunities to save

money greet you at every side

—

RELIABLE NEW GOODS UNDER
REGULAR PRICES.

SECOND FLOOR,
Everything in Women's and Misses' Apparel of the

Latest Designs. Suits, Dresses, .Coats, Waists, Muslin
Underwear, Corsets and Infants' Wear.

BEAUTIFUL ASSORTMENTS AND
MODERATE PRICES.

THE REID & HUGHES CO.
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Compliments of

153 Main Street,

Exclusive Millinery,

Cloaks, Suits

and Shirt Waists,

.
A. RAPHAEL & CO.,

112-1 14 Main Street.

ELMER A. KINNE,

GaFpenteF and Bailder.

Jobbing promptly

attended to :

Estimates furnished on application.

123 West Main Street.

Henry Norman^
Dealer in

Choice Groceries
and Meats,

36 FrankUn Street.

Telephone 267.

SHOES,
FRANK A. BILL,

104 Main Street.

/. A. GEORGE,
Cigar Manufacturer,
Wholesale and Retail,

72 Main Street,

NORWICH, CONN.

CHURCH BROS.,
All kinds of

Sea Food, Lobsters
and Oysters in

their Season.
24-30 Market Street.

Pequot
Brass Foundry Co.,

ALL KINDS OF

Brass and Composition

Castings.

Pure Babbit and Stephenson Metais con-

stantly on hand.

re;quot buiudiino.
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...NEW FACTORY OF...

The Norwich Nickel & Brass Co.,

69 to 87 CHESTNUT STREET,

NORWICH, CONN.

MANUFACTURERS OF

Display Fixtures, Wax Figures
and Clothing Forms,

AND
ELECTRO PLATERS

IN SILVER, NICKEL and COPPER.



THE NORWICH BOARD OP TRADE QUARTERLY

4%
Interest

Savings
Department

^0=

THE GRANITE FRONT, SHETUCKET STREET,

HOME OF THE

Thames Loan & Trust Co
NORWICH, CONN.

We can serve you in every

relation touching your financial matters.
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FRANK COXETER D. F. PULSIFER

D. 5, Pulstfer 6c (£0.

irtercl^ant Cailors.

Telephone 858-3. NORWICH, CONN.

88 Main St

Norwich, Conn.

Have Your Garments

Dyed or Cleansed Process

By LEWANDO'S.
MARSHALL'S SSr
164 Main Street,

With Norwich Cir. Library,

Telephone. Established 1886.



Inar nf Nnu lEnglanJi

VIEW OF HARBOR

of

lZ5tli Attntorsary nf % 3lurortinrattmt af tlir (Citu

Ma 4% 5t\} fitb. 1900
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ST. PATRICK'S CHURCH
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PONEMAH MILLS
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Official Program

SiiiKlay, July I, 1»05).

In the morning historical sermons
will be delivered in all the churches
at their usual hour of service.

The graves in the old town burying
ground at Norwich Town and the

Mason monument will i^e decorated.

In the afternoon at 4 o'clock there

will be a memorial service in the

old burying ground at Norwich
Town, as follows:

Invocation—Rev. George H. Ewing of

the First Congregational church.
Address—Rev. Lewellyn Pratt, D. D.

Address—Rev. Charles A. Northrop.
Frederick W. Lester and a choir of se-

lected voices will lead in the sing-

ing of several old hymns.
At 5 o'clock an organ recital will be

given in the old First church.
The evening will be reserved for fam-

ily reunions and visits with old

friends.

3ionday, July 5, 1909.

At sunrise, 4.31 a. m., all the bells In

the city will ring for half an hour.
Upon the entry of the President into

the city, at about 5.30 a. m., the
Presidential salute of 21 guns will

be fired by a battery on Geer's hill.

At 9 a. m.—The first ascension of the
airship, "The California Arrow,"
owned and operated by Capt.
Thomas Scott Baldwin, will take
place, at the New London County
Fair Grounds. The flight will be
made over the entire city so that
all may have a good view. This
will be the first ascension of an air-

ship in the state. At the same time
and place the athletic events will

be held.

At 10 a. m.—In the area back of the
Norwich Club House, entrance
through the Joshua Perkins Road
or at the upper end of McKinley
avenue, there will be presented a
series of Historical Reproductions
consisting of scenes of the early In-

dian life, the signing of the deed
by Uncas and the Founders, the
visit of Washington during the
Revolutionary war, the return of

the soldiers from the Civil war, the
present to be represented by the
soldiers of the present time and the
future personified by 5 00 school
children.

At 12 o'clock a reception will l^e ten-
dered the President, the distin-

guished guests and the officials of

the celebration by Hon. Winslow
Tracy Williams at Rockclyffe.

At 2 p. m.—The grand parade will

start, forming in the ^arious streets

leading into Franklin Square it will

march to the East Side bridge, then
countermarch to Broadway, thence
to Chelsea Parade where it will be
reviewed by the President of the
United States, the governor of Con-
necticut and other distinguished
guests. The procession will be the
most imposing ever seen in Nor-
wich, consisting of regular U. S. A.
troops from the forts in and abou:
New London, midshipmen from An-
napolis, two companies Governor's
Foot Guards, the Putnam Phalanx
and several companies of Coast ar-
tillery, officials and civic societies,

school children in 20 floats repre-
senting, in costume, numerous his-

torical scenes and ancient life and
customs. The industrial divisions

will display on floats the varied in-

dustries of the city and town. After
the review the President will pro-
ceed to the Buckingham Memorial
where a public reception will be
held until 6 o'clock.

At 5.3 0 p. m., will occur the second
flight of the airship.

At 7 p. m.—There will l)e band con-
certs as follows: On Union square,
by Fifth Regiment band, M. V. M.;
at Greeneville, by the Governor's
Foot Guard band; at West Side, by
Hatch's First Regiment band, C. N.

G.; at Norwich Town, by Tubbs's
Military band. The concert on Un-
ion square will extend until 8.30

o'clock; the others from 7 to 8.

At 8.3 0 p. m.—Grand display of fire-

works on Rogers's hill, above the

bank of the Shetucket river directly
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opposite the station of the New
York, New Haven atul Hartford
railroad. From this eminence the
display can be seen from nearly
every part of the city. This will be
the grandest display of fireworks
ever seen in eastern Connecticut.
During the evening the streets of
the business section will be ilumi-
nated by electrical arches and de-
vices of a spectacular nature.

Tuesday, July 6, 1909.

At 8.:10 a. m.—Demonstration of the
Fire department at the Central sta-

tion.

9 a. m.—Third ascension of the air-

ship.

9.3 0 a. m.—Automobile parade. All
automobiles will be decorated and
\aluable prizes given.

lO.oO a. m.—Dedication of a memorial
fountain at the Little Plain by Faith
Trumbull chapter, D A. R.
The Star-Spangled Banner,

Tubbs's band
Invocation,

Rev. Lewellyn Pratt. D. D.
Greeting .... Mrs. Elizabeth B. Buel
State regent Connecticut D. A. R.

Connecticut State Hymn.
Solo Ebenezer Learned

Chorus—D. A. R.
Presentation of the Fountain,

Mrs. Ellen M. K. Bishop, regent
Unveiling,

Miss Mary Lanman Huntington
Miss Helen Lathrop Perkins

Reception of the Fountain,
His Honor, Mayor Costello Lippitt

Address,
Rev. Edwin W. Bishop, D. D.,

Oak Park, 111.

Closing Words, Mrs. Sara T. Kinney
Hon. state regent Connecticut D. A.

R.
America.

11.30 a. m.—The Putnam Phalanx
will give an exhibition drill on Chel-

sea Parade.
2 p. m.—Literary exercises at the

E roadway theatre, as follows:

1. Prelude Orchestra
•2. Opening address by the presi-

dent of the day, Hon. Wins-
low Tracy Williams.

3. Reading of Scripture,

Rev. S. H. Howe, D. D.

4. Prayer.
5. Anthem—Choir of 150 voices

conducted by Frederick W.
Lester.

G. Welcome by the mayor, Hon.
Costello Lippitt.

7. Historical address — President
Harry ^v. Garlield of Williams
college.

8. Hymn—choir and audience.
9. Historical address — Arthur L.

Shipman, Esq., of Hartford.
10. Hymn—Choir and audience.
11. Historical address—Hon. Samuel

O. Prentice, associate judge
of the supreme court of Con-
necticut.

12. Original hymn—Choir and au-
dience.

13. Reading of "The Inland (Mty"
(Stedman), liev. Lewellyn
Pratt, D. D.

14. Singing—America.
At 4 p. m.—Game of baseball between

two state league teams.
5.30 p. m.—Last ascension of the air-

ship.

7.30 p. m.—Concert by Tubbs's Mili-
tary band, near the harbor.

8 p. m.—Water carnival and illumi-
nated display in the harbor under
the management of the Chelsea
Boat club. Grand electrical displax

on business blocks and thorough-
fares.

9 p. m.—Grand military promenade
concert and ball in the state armory,
given by the Fifth company, Coast
artillery.

The headquarters of the celebration
will be on the main floor of the lUu-k-

ingham Memorial, which is adjacent
to the station of the New York, New
Hayen and Hartford railroad, where
an information bureau, writing facili-

ties, a register and the newspapers of

the day can be found.
It is expected that all the vestries of

the several churches will be open for

rest and comfort stations for women
and children.

The loan exhibition, under the man-
agement of Faith Trumbull chapter,

D. A. R., will be open at the Converse
Art gallery July 3 to 7, inclusive, at

the following hours:
Saturday, July 3, from 2 to G p. m.
Monday, July 5, from 10 a. m. to 2

p. m.
Tuesday, July 6, from 2 to G p. m.
Wednesday, July 7, from 10 a. m. to

G p. m.
Headquarters for the representa-

tives of the press and newspaper cor-

respondents will be furnished on the

second floor of the banking house of

the Thames National bank, where all

the necessary facilities will bo pro-

vided.
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FAIRVIEW RESERVOIR
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Norwich and Its Industrial Advantages

Norwich is a picturesque city situated upon rising ground between

the valleys of two streams with irregular streets and rugged bluffs.

The bold and lofty hills, deep valleys and rapidly flowing streams pro-

vide ready and brisk escape for the water with which nature so

thoroughly purifies the earth and air and give ample opportunity for

the removal of deleterious wastes.

It is the second city in the state in point of population of natural

contributory territory, having a population of 30,000 and a contributory

population of over 60,000 people.

Norwich possesses 23,200 natural horse power, nearly 70 per cent,

of the utilized and nearly 40 per cent, of the unutilized water power of

the State of Connecticut.

Norwich is served by the New York, New Haven & I^artford and

Central Vermont Railroads and is at the head of navigation on the

Thames River, whose channel as improved by the Federal Government

is 100-200 feet wide and 14 feet deep.

Fairview Reservoir has a capacity of 450,000,000 gallons. The net

profit to the city of the water works in 1908 was $33,916.01. Since its

construction in 1867 the water commissioners have returned to the city

$385,942.67 above the cost of the works and maintenance. The family

rates are below the average. The city is charged nothing for the use

388 public hydrants and the meter rates vary from $2.00 for 1,000

cubic feet a quarter to 40 cents a thousand for quantities in excess of

200,000 cubic feet.

Another municipal enterprise is the city gas and electric depart-

ment in which the city has invested the sum of $339,000. After

paying all the expenses of management and operation and deducting

interest charges and five per cent, for depreciation the net profit to the

city last year was nearly $27,000. The price of gas per thousand cubic

feet is $1.25 and electricity for lighting to smallest consumers 10 cents

per kilowatt hour. The electric power rate is the lowest in the state : 5c

per kilowatt hour to small users, 1-500 K. W. and 2c per kilowatt hour

for all over 500 K. W. used in one month. These favorable rates are

made possible by the development and equipment of a water power

plant by the Uncas Power Co. on the Shetucket River about 11 miles

from Norwich. The power house has three sets of water wheels, gen-

erators and transformers, capable of delivering upwards of 6,000,000

kilowatts per annum. The City of Norwich has a long term contract

for the entire output or as much as may be needed. The low power

rate made possible by the establishment of this plant insures the rapid

growth of Norwich and contributory territory.
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ANNIVERSARY COMMITTEES
For the Celebration of the 250th Anniversary of the Founding of the

Town of Norwich and the 125th of the City.

General Committee of 250 Members
—Winslow Tracy Williams, PresiJent;
Edwin Avery Tracy, John Eccles, John
McWilliams, William A. Aiken, Jere-
miah J. Desmond, P. H. Harriman,
Vice-Presidents; Charles "W. Gale,
Treasurer.

Executive Committee—Edwin Avery
Tracy, Chairman; Winslow Tracy Will-
iams, Vice-Chairman; Gilbert S. Ray-
mond, Secretary; Grosvenor Ely, As-
sistant Secretary; John Eccles, John
McWilliams, William A. Aiken, Jere-
miah J. Desmond, P. H. Harriman,
Charles W. Gale, Arthur D. Lathrop,
John Porteous, William B. Young',
Henry A. Tirrell, James B. Shannon,
Charles D. Noyes, Albert L. Potter,
Timothy C. Murphy, Howard L. Stan-
ton, Albert S. Comstock, Frank T.
Brown (deceased).

Nominating Committee—William B.
Young, Chairman; Dr. P. H. Harriman,
Henry A. Tirrell, Charles W. Gale.

Finance Committee — Charles R.
Butts, Chairman; Maxton Holms,
Secretary; AVaterman R. Burnham,
James B. Snannon, Frank L. Woodard.

Literary Exercises and Speakers

—

Charles E. Chandler, Chairman; W.
Tyler Olcott, Secretary; William H.
Shields, Rev. Lewellyn Pratt, Rev.
Hugh Treanor, Edwin W. Higgins,
John M. Thayer, A. Walton Pearson.

Printing and Publicity—Frederic W.
Gary, Chairman; John M. Lee, Secre-

tary; W. H. Oat, F. H. Pullen, W. B.

D. Cranston, George A. Davis, Frank
H. Allen.

Ways and Means—Costello Lippitt,

Chairman; C. Leslie Hopkins, Secre-

tary; Charles Billings Chapman,
Charles H. Phelps, James H. Welles,

Robert W. Perkins, Frank L. Woodard,
Charles W. Gale, C. Henry Osgood,
Arthur H. Brewer, Charles L. Hubbard,
Arthur J. Dawley, Oliver L. Johnson,

Winslow T. Williams, Archibald Mitch-
ell, Charles D. White, John Eccles,

Henry H. Gallup, Henry G. Peck,

George H. Pratt, James W. Semple,

Patrick F. Bray. George W. Davis,

Henry Gebrath, Dr. George Thompson,

Dr. L. I. Pratt, John A. Brady, Alhie
Hale, Grosvenor Ely, Frank H. Smith,
Charles D. Noyes. Henry W. Tibbits,
William F. Hill, John Donovan, Albert
L. Potter.

Invitation Committee—William IL
Shields, Chairman; John P. Hunting-
ton, Secretary; Bela P. Learned, Wal-
lace S. Allis, Zebulon R. Robbins,
Grosvenor Ely, Gilbert S. Raymond,
Jonathan Trumbull, Dr. Patrick Cas-
sidy, Charles B. Lee, Frank T. Maples,
F. J. Leavens, Charles H. Haskell, Miss
Emily Gilman, Miss Ella A. Fanning,
Miss C. C. Gulliver, Mrs. B. P. Bishop,
Mrs. Gardiner Greene, Mrs. William H.
Shields, William B. Young.

Programme Committee—Winslow T.
Williams, Chairman; Grosvenor Ely,
John Porteous.

Amusement Committee— Nelson J.

Aj^ling, Chairman; Arthur L. Peale,
Secretary; Allyn 1^. Brown, Walter M.
Buickingham, George A. Keppler,
Charles E. Case, Charles H. Preston,
Henry L. Bennett, John B. Oat, Joseph
C. Bland, William A. Breedi, John F.

Byrne, Ira W. Jackson, W. Harry Jen-
nings, Dwight H. Hough, Dr. D. J.

Shahan, James C. E. Leach, George P.

Madden.

Automobile Parade—Horatio Big^e •

low. Chairman; John Jj. Mitchell,

Secretary; Calvin H. Frisbie, James L.

Hubbard, Dr. Charles Osgood, W.
Russell Baird, Charles W. Briggs,

George W. Carroll, Arthur J. Dawley,
Chauncey A. Sherman, Witter K. Ting-
ley, M. B. Ring, G. Everett Hall,

Julian L. Williams, John F. Rogers,

Calvin L. Swan.

Decorating Committee—Zebulon R.

Robbins. Chairman; Herbert L. Knox,
Secretary; Otto E. Wulf, S. Alpheus

Gilbert, Frank W. Browning, Norris

S. Lippitt, Henry J. Steiner, Daniel J.

Hinchey, P>ank J. King, Henry T.

Nelson, Frank E. Parker, John J.

Somers, Edward H. Tibbits, E. A. Cud -

worth, Dr. George A. Comeau, Amos
A. Browning, Joseph W. Gilbert.

Fireworks—Walter F. Lester, Chair-

man; Arthur E. Story, Secretary;

4
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Tyler Cruttenden, George A. Allen,

William B. Young-, Timothy C. Mur-
phy, John T. Clark.

Headquarters Committee—The So-
ciety of the Founders of Norwich.

Historical Committee—Frederick P.

Gulliver, William C. Gilman, Frank A.
Rotninson, William B. Birge, Jonathan
Trumbull, Capt. L. R. Jewett, Albert
J. Bailey, B. P. Bishop, Adams P. Car-
roll, Aron W. Dickey, Shepard B. Pal-
mer, Horace Rogers, Albert W. Smith,

Loan Exhibition—Faith Trumbull
Chapter, D. A. R., Mrs. Ellen K.
Bishop, Regent.

Music Committee—James L. Case,
Chairman; Frederick W. Lester, Secre-
tary; Archibald Mitchell, Charles D.
Geer, George A. Kies, Eugene Wallner,
William F. Habekotte, Ebenezer Learn-
ed, Frank L. Farrell, Arthur B. Black-
led'ge, Herbert T. Miller, William B.

Young, Jr., Charles D. Gallup.

Reception and Entertainment of

Distinguished Guests—Winslow Tracy
Williams, Chairman; William. R. Jew-
ett, Secretary; William A. Aiken,
Arthur H. Brewer, Charles L. Hubbard,
Charles D. White, Gardiner Greene,
Oliver L. Johnson, Dr. Leonard B.

Almy^ Charles Bard, Willis A. Briscoe,
Archibald Mitchell, Dr. Patrick Cas-
siidy, Frederick L, Osgood, Henry F.

Parker. William H. Palmer, Jr., John
C. Averill, William D. Fitch, William
A. Norton, James B. Shannon.

Schools Committee—Henry A. Tir-
rell. Chairman; Clifton H. Hobson,
Secretary; Nathan L. Bishop, William
D. Tillson, Rev. Hugh Treanor, F. J.

Werking, Rev. James J. Smith, Ber-
tram F. Dodd, John B. Stanton, Rev.
John Amibot, Walter E. Can:field, Rev.
Arthur O'Keefe, William G. Tarbox,
F. H. Bushnell.

Transportation Commiittee—Chairles

H. Preston, Chairman; Joseph D.
Havlland, Secretary; Frank H. Smith,
Charles J. Winters, Alonzo R. Aborn,
Ansel A. Beckwith, Gilbert L. Hewitt,
John A. Moran, Henry F. Ulmer,
Charles E. Whittaker, Benjamin Hall,
Calvin L. Harwood.

Committee on Public Safety—Dr. P.
H. Harriman, Chairman; Frederick
Symington, Secretary; Howard L.
Stanton, John Murphy, George E. Fel-
lows.

Procession Committee—Dr. P. H.
Harriman, Chairman; Charles W. Gale,

Hugh Blackledge, Herbert M. Lerou»
Fred A. Fox, Charles S. Holbrook, John
D. Moulton, William I. Woodard.
James Graham, Irving J. Willis, Ed-
ward T. Burke, Michael G. Higgins,
John J. Corkery, Rutherford C. Plaut,
Charles K. Preston, architect; Dr. D.
J. Shahan, Norris S. Lippitt, J. Her-
bert George, John Woodmansee, Dr.
James J. Donahue, John P. Murphy;
Zebulon R. Ro'bbins, Arcanum Club;
James C. McPherson, Somerset Lodge,
F. Leon Hutchins, St. Jame.S' Lodge,
Charles Billings Chapm'an, Columbian
Commandery, Masonic; Frank J. King,
Robert A. Brown, Frank M. Green,
Harold T. Sargent, Odd Fellows; Capr.
John A. Hagberg, Capt. William G.
Tarbox, Military; Vine S. Stetson, G.
A. R. ; George E. Zimmerman, Sons
of Veterans; Ida R. Green, W. R. C,
G. A. R.; Michael J. Dwyer, Frank J.

Murtha, Terrence Hanlon, A. O. H.

;

C. W. Worthington, John H. Taylor,
A. O. U. W.; William R. Stevens, B.
P. O. E.; Michael J. Malone, C. B. L.;

Herbert B. Gary, Chelsea Boat Club;
S. Howard Mead, Colonial Club; Sam-
uel Kronig, Benevolent Hebrew So-
ciety; 'Mary Washburn, Daughters of
Liberty; Maria L. Button, Degree of
Pocahontas; William Weldon, Patrick
F. Bray, Albert Thorp, Allen Boyle, F.
of A.; Percival Armstrong, Eagles;
James T. Carey, Heptasophs; Morris
Rosin, I. O. B. A.; James C. Donovan,
Michael J. Kelley, James Grierson, La-
bor Union; P. F. Murtagh, Antoine
Paquette, K. of C; Napoleon Beauso-
liel, K. of St. L.; Dr. George A.
Comeau, Union St. J, C. B.; Archibald
C. Everett, Willard H. Palmer, M. W.
A.; Percy H. Wilcox, Margaret R. Ro-
han, N. E, O. P.; C. Amos Johnson,
Norwich Club; Charles D. White, Golf
Club; N. L. Bishop, Roque Club;
William .J. Curran, Typographical
Union; Herman Alofsin, O. B. A.;
Richard! Thoma, Ida Weiss, O. D. H.
S.; Anna Hammer, O. of V.; John
Gamble, O. U. A. M.; Alexander Jor-
dan, Hormisdas Gaucher, Royal Ar-
canum; Ludwig Anderson, Swedish
Political Club; John Lindroth, Scandi-
navian Benefit Societj- Bruno Pedace,
Joseph Podurgrel, St. John's Polish So-
ciety; Stanislaus Marchiel, St. George
Polish Society; Isidore Boucher, St. Jean
de Baptiste; Maurice J. Buckley. St.
Joseph's Sodality; John F. Amburn,
Franklin Bowen, K. of P.; Cesare Del
Carlo, Convezzo D'Atri, Italian So-
ciet5\- John Seidel, Maennerchor-Taft-
ville; Mrs. T\ A. Perkins, W. C. T. U.;
Mary Foley, St. Anne's Temperance;
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Walter G. Casey, St. Mary's Tem-
perance; P. F. Shea, Father Mathew's
Temperance; Bryan Hanlon, Sacred
Heart Temperance Society; Miss Mary
E. Hartie, St. Cecilias T. A. Society
Edward J. Brophy, Holy Name Society'
Wm. McCIafferty, The Evergreen Club!
Mrs. P. H. Harriman, Catholic Woman's
Club; JLouis Andrews, Tierney Cadets;
Mrs. p. J. Shahan, Ladies' Catholic
Society; George Greenberger, Congre-
gational Sons of Israel; S. Zellinger,
Congregational Sons of Joseph; w!
Stefanski, Polish School; William
Caruthers and William A. Wells, U. S.
Government; Henry F. Ulmer, Charles
B. Lee, Wm. G. Henderson, Charles D.
Gallup, Frederic W. Gary, Henry W.
Tibbits, Joseph D. Aiken, John F.
Jlogers, J. W. Curtiss, W. L Wood-

Edwin A. Tracy is ex officio

OP TRADE QUARTERLY n

ward, Philip Henault. Norwich Board
of Trade.

^
Hospitality Committee— Lewis R.

Church, Cliainnan; Albert H. Chase,
Charles P. Bushnell, Herman D. Ral-
Hon, Ebenezer Allen, Rollin C. Jones,
Frank Hemp.stecul, Reuben S. Bartietti
Francis F. ik'ckwlth, Gurdon L. Bid-
well, J. Frank Clark. Archa W. Colt,
Arthur G. Crowell, John H. Ford. Car-
rie Gilmour, Otis B. Hall. Justin Hol-
den, Edwin Oldflold. Hmry H. Daven-
port, Woodbury G. Rogcr.s. F. E. Pat-
tison, C. D. Boynton, D. J. Hayes, Will-
iam J. Farrcll, I»uis Mabrcy, James
Constant!. M. Louis DcMonte. Frank
E. Martin, A. A. Adam. Georpe E.
Driscoll, Edward Price. p:(l\vin L.
Burnap.

iiember of all sub-committees.

INDUSTRIAL ACTIVITY OF NORWICH IN ONE YEAR.
MANUFACTl RES.

Cotton ^O.^iUk.-JOI.imj

Wool i.7.S<K(MM>.(r»

Silks l.l^T.'.tNHKOO

Boiler, machinery and metal goods 2.7:!7.000.0<>

Fire-arms ].:{2r»,0<K».<)<)

Paper, paper boxes and belting ],:tl(>.<MH>.<M)

Miscellaneous .•iS<>,4)<M).00

!!<I.''.,0li:..'<U.00

Building operations .sis.o<i<K<K)

-Passenger and freight transportation l.<MO.(;Ht.(K)

AVater, gas and electricity I !.'..(MH>.(K>

Telephone, telegraph and express 17."'».."i<M>.o«

Post oflice receipts and disbursements !) 10.1202.55

JOBBING TRADE.

Lumber and coal Ji<2.!MM),0<M>.00

Cotton, wool and leather 2.:{.-o.<MMK<M>

Packing house products, fish and oysters 1 , 1 7<>.0(M>.(M>

Groceries and tobacco

.

• • • I .ooo.tMio.oo

Dry goods and clothing .'.".(MMMKOO

Ales, wines, liquors and confectionery <>(to.(;<M>.(»o

JPruit, produce, butter, cheese and eggs :»H>,<l(MKO<>

Drugs, chemicals and proprietary medicines.. :{7.';.no<KO<>

Hardware, mechanics' tools and sporting goods 2:i.'.o<M).()0

Painters' supplies l.-i(».(MM».(M>

Housefurnishing and electrical supplies .'(Mioo.do

Miscellaneous 1(MMMMMM»
. !l.7s<>,(MM».IM)

Grand total ^i27,!»ui,i>:{5».r»5
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Tyler Cruttenden, George A. Allen,

William B. Young-, Timothy C. Mur-
phy, John T. Clark.

Headquarters Committee—The So-
ciety of the Founders of Norwich.

Historical Committee—Frederick P.

Gulliver, William C. Gilman, Frank A.
Robiinson, William B. Birge, Jonathan
Trumbull, Capt. L. R. Jewett, Albert
J. Bailey, B. P. Bishop, Adams P. Car-
roll, Aron W. Dickey, Shepard B. Pal-
mer, Horace Rogers, Albert W. Smith.

Loan Exhibition—Faith Trumbull
Chapter, D. A. R., Mrs. Ellen K.
Bishop, Regent.

Music Committee—James L. Case,
Chairman; Frederick W. Lester, Secre-
tary; Archibald Mitchell, Charles D.
Geer, George A. Kies, Eugene Wallner,
William F. Habekotte, Ebenezer Learn-
ed, Frank L, Farrell, Arthur B. Black-
led^ge, Herbert T. Miller, William B.

Young, Jr., Charles D. Gallup.

Reception and Entertainment of

Distinguished Guests—Winslow Tracy
Williams, Chairman; William-. R. Jew -

ett, Secretary; William A. Aiken,
Arthur H. Brewer, Charles L. Hubbard,
Charles D. White, Gardiner Greene,
Oliver L. Johnson, Dr. Leonard B.

Almy, Charles Bard, Willis A. Briscoe,

Archibald Mitchell, Dr. Patrick Cas-
siidy, Frederick L. Osgood, Henry F.

Parker William H. Palmer, Jr., John
C. Averill, William D. Fitch, William
A. Norton, James B. Shannon.

Schools Committee—Henry A. Tir-
rell. Chairman; Clifton H. Hobson,
Secretary; Nathan L. Bisihop, William
D. Tillson, Rev. Hugh Treanor, F. J.

Werking, Rev. James J. Smith, Ber-
tram F. Dodd, John B. Stanton, Rev.
Jo'hn Amibot, Walter E. Canfield, Rev.
Arthur O'Keefe, William G. Tarbox,
F. H. Bushnell.

Transportation Commiittee—Chairles

H. Preston, Chairman; Joseph D.
Havlland, Secretary; Frank H. Smith,
Charles J. Winters, Alonzo R. Aborn,
Ansel A. Beckwith, Gilbert L. Hewitt,
John A. Moran, Henry F. Ulmer,
Charles E. Whittaker, Benjamin Hail,
Calvin L, Harwood.

Committee on Public Safety—Dr. P.
R. Harriman, Chairm'an; Frederick
Symington, Secretary; Howard L.
Stanton, John Murphy, George E. Fel-
lows.

Procession Committee—Dr. P. H.
Harriman, Chairman; Charles W. Gale,

Hugh Blackledge, Herbert M. Lerou,
Fred A.. Fox, Charles S. Holbrook, John
D. Moulton, William I. Woodard.
James Graham, Irving J. Willis, Ed-
ward T. Burke, Michael G. Higgins,
John J. Corkery, Rutherford C. Plaut,
Cha.rles K. Preston, architect; Dr. D.
J. Shahan, Norris S. Lippitt, J. Her-
bert George, John Woodmansee, Dr.
James J. Donahue, John P. Murphy;
Zebulon R. Robbins, Arcanum Club;
James C. McPherson, Somerset Lodge,
F. Leon Hutchins, St. James- Lodge,
Charles Billings Chapm'an, Columbian
Comm'andery, Masonic; Frank J. King,
Robert A. Brown, Frank M. Green,
Harold T. Sargent, Odd Fellows; Capr.
John A. Hagberg, Capt. William G.
Tarbox, Military; Vine S. Stetson, G.
A, R. ; George E. Zimmerman, Sons
of Veterans; Ida R. Green, W. R. C,
G. A. R.; Michael J. Dwyer, Frank J.

Murtha, Terrence Hanlon, A. O. H.;
C. W. Worthington, John H. Taylor,
A. O. U. W.; William R. Stevens, B.
P. O. E.; Michael J. Malone, C. B. L.;

Herbert B. Gary, Chelsea Boat Club;
S. Howard Mead, Colonial Club; Sam-
uel Kronig, Benevolent Hebrew So-
ciety; 'Mary Was'hburn, Daughters of

Liberty; Maria L. Button, Degree of

Pocahontas; William Weldon, Patrick
F. Bray, Albert Thorp, Allen Boyle, F.
of A.; Percival Armstrong, Eagles;
James T. Carey, Heptasophs; Morris
Rosin, I. O. B. A.; James C. Donovan,
Michael J. Kelley, James Grierson, La-
bor Union; P. F. Murtagh, Antoine
Paquette, K. of C; Napoleon Beauso-
liel, K. of St. L.; Dr. George A.
Comeau, Union St. J. C. B.; Archibald
C. Everett, Willard H. Palmer, M. W.
A.; Percy H. Wilcox, Margaret R. Ro-
han, N. E. O. P.; C. Amos Johnson,
Norwich Club; Charles D. White, Golf

Club; N. L. Bishop, Roque Club;
William J. Curran, Typographical
Union; Herman Alofsin, O. B. A.;

Richard Thoma, Ida Weiss, O. D. H.
S.; Anna Hammer, O. of V.; John
Gamble, O. U. A. M.; Alexander Jor-
dan, Hormisdas Gaucher, Royal Ar-
canum; Ludwig Anderson, Swedish
Political Club; John Lindroth, Scandi-
navian Benefit Society; Bruno Pedace,
Joseph Podurgrel, St. John's Polish So-
ciety; Stanislaus Marchiel, St. George
Polish Society; Isidore Boucher, St. Jean
de Baptiste; Maurice J. Buckley, St.

Joseph's Sodality; John F. Amburn,
Franklin Bowen, K. of P.; Cesare Del
Carlo, Convezzo D'Atri, Italian So-
ciety: John Seidel, Maennerchor-Taft-
ville; Mrs. T. A. Perkins, W. C. T. U.;
Mary Foley, St. Anne's Temperance;

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found
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Walter G. Casey, St. Mary's Tem-
perance; P. F. Shea, Father Mathew's
Temperance; Bryan Hanlon, Sacred
Heart Temperance Society; Miss Mary
E. Hartie, St. Cecilias T. A. Society;
Edward J. Brophy, Holy Name Society;
Wm. McCIafferty, The Evergreen Club;
Mrs. P. H. Harriman, Catholic Woman's
Club; Liouis Andrews, Tierney Cadets;
Mrs. p. J. Shahan, Ladies' Cathojlic
Society; George Greenberger, Congre-
gational Sons of Israel; S. Zellinger,

•Congregational Sons of Joseph; W.
Stefanski, Polish School; William
Caruthers and William A. Wells, U. S.

Government; Henry F. Ulmer, Charles
B, Lee, Wm. G. Henderson, Charles D.
Gallup, Frederic W. Gary, Henry W.
Tibbits, Joseph D. Aiken, John F.
JRogers, J. W, Curtiss, W. L Wood-

ward, Philip Henault. Norwich Board
of Trade.

Hospitality Oommittee—Lewis R.
Church, Chairman; Albert H. Chase,
Charles P. Bushnell, Herman D. Ral-
lion, Ebenezer Allen, Rollin C. Jones,
Frank Hempstead, Reuben S. Bartlett,
Francis E. Beckwith, Gurdon L. Bid-
well, J. Prank Clark, Archa W. Coit,
Arthur G. Crowell, John H. Ford, Cur-
rie Gilmour, Otis B. Hall, Justin Hol-
den, Edwin Oldfield, Henry B. Daven-
port, Woodbury O. Rogers, F. E. Pat-
ti'son, C. D. Boynton, D. J. Hayes, Will-
iam J. Farrell, Louis Mabrey, James
Constanti, M. Louis DeMonte, Frank
E. Martin, A. A. Adam, George E.
Driscoll, Edward Price, Edwin L.

Burnap.

Edwin A. Tracy is ex officio member of all sub-committees.

INDUSTRIAL ACTIVITY OF NORWICH IN ONE YEAR.

MANUFACTURES.
Cotton {^6,236,561.00

Wool 1,789,000.00

«ilks 1,275,000.00

Boiler, machinery and metal goods 2,727,000.00

Fire-arms 1,325,000.00

Paper, paper boxes and belting: 1,310,000.00

Miscellaneous 380,000.00

$15,042,561.00

Building operations 818,000.00

Passenger and freight transportation 1,040,616.00

AVater, gas and electricity 105,000.00

Telephone, telegraph and express 175,500.00

Post ollice receipts and disbursements 910,262.55

JOBBIIVG TRADE.

Lumber and coal $2,900,000.00

Cotton, wool and leather 2,350,000.00

Packing house products, fish and oysters 1,170,000.00

Groceries and tobacco 1,000,000.00

Dry goods and clothing 550.000.00

Ales, wines, liquoi's and confectionery 600,000.00

Pruit, produce, butter, cheese and eggs 300,000.00

Drugs, chemicals and proprietary medicines . . 375,000.00

Hardware, mechanics' tools and sporting goods 235,000.00

Painters' supplies 150,000.00

Housefurnishing and electrical supplies 50,000.00

Miscellaneous 100,000.00

9.780,000.00

Grand total $27,961,939.55
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LIST OF THREE HUNDRED AND FOUR MEMBERS
OF BOARD OF TRADE.

Gallup, Charles D.
Gallup, H. H.
Gallup, L. A. Co., The
Geer, Charles F.

Co. Gilbert, N. S. & Sons
Gilchrist, L. M.
George, Herbert M.
Green, Frank E.
Greene, Gardiner

ti Greg-son Brothers
Grodotzke, iH. J.

Green, M. J.

Gibbs, Nathan A.
Graham,, James
Geer, Wm. S.

Gotthelf, B. & Co.
Gulliver, F. P,

Aborn, A. R.
Aiken, J. D.
Aiken, W. A. Gen.
Allen, F. IT.

Allen, Ebenezer
Allen, G. A.
Allen, W.m. H., 88 Main
Anderson, S.

All is, W. S.

Almy, John T.

Alofsin, Herman
Austin, Willis
Averill, J. C.

Ayling, N. J.

Ailing, W. S.

Andrews, W.

Bailey, W. F.

Bartlett, R. S.

B:ald.win, W. E.
Bard, Charles
Barstow, J. P. & Co.
Beckwith Printing Co.
Bigelow, Horatio
Bill, P. A.
Bishop, N. L.

Blackburn, Wm.
Blackledge, H.
Bliiven, S. E.
Boguo, W. F.

Boynton, C. D,
Breed, W. A.
Briggs, C. W.
Browne, W. T.
Browning, A. A.
Browning, F. W.
Brunelle, L. H.
Burnham, W. R.
Burns, Thomas F.
Butts, C. R.
Butts, G. C.
Brown & Perkins
Buckingham, Walter M.
Beardsley, R. E.
Blood, George F.
Biack, Ludwig
Butterw orth, S. T.

Beckwith, F. E.
Birge, W. B.

Cardwell, Wm. H. & Son
Carey, Rev. N. P.
Crowell, Fred C.
Crozier, Ernest H.
Cary, Frederic W.
Carpenter, A. N.
Carroll, G. W.
Carroll, L. W. & Son
Cassidy, P. J.

Caruthers, Wm.
'Case, S. B.
Cassidy, P,
Chandler & Palmer
Chappell, The Edward
Colt, J. D.
Coit, Archa W.
Corkery, J. J.

Cruttenden, J. T.

Cudworth & Woodwort
Congdon, Chas. N.
Campbell, John
Case James L.
Cranston «& Co.

Church, L. R.
Church & Allen
Clark John T.

Cruttenden, Tyler
Curtis, J. W.
Comstock, A. S.

Crandall, L. M.
Carpenter, L. M.
Crawford, J. E.

Davenport, H. B.
Davenport, W. C.

Davis, George A.
Dawley, H. F. & A. J.

Desmond, J. J.

Donovan, John
Dibble, B. R.
Dolbeare, L. N.
Dolbeare, Guy B.

Draper, G. S.

Eaton Chase Co., The
Eaton, Charles S.

Eccles, John
Ernst, Otto F.

Evans, Roy
Ely, 'Grosvenor

Fanning, J. E.
Fanning, J. T.

Fellows, George E.
Ford, J. H.
Fox, Emil M.
Fuller, James E.
Frisbie, Calvin H.
FuJler, Edward E.
Pox, P. A.
Foss «& Bailey

Gager, C. A., Jr.

GalJup, 'Herbert W.
Gale, C. W.

Hall, John D.
Hamilton, Geo. W.
Hammond, Boynton Paint

Co.

Haskell, Charles H.
Harriman, P. H.
Haviland, J. D.
Hayes Brothers
Henderson, William G.

Higgins, Edwin W.
Higgins, M. C.

Hill, Wm. F.

Hirsch & Co.
Hiscox, James A.
Holbrook, Charles S..

Holden, Justin
Holloway, J. P.

Hopkins, C. Leslie
Howe, Rev. S. H.
Henault, Philip
Hatch, A. C.

Henderson, James C.

Hobson, C. H.
Haviland, Daniel S.

Harwood, Bishop an(J
Bidwell

Howland, Geo. T.

Hempstead, Frank

International Silver Co,
Inslee, J. A

Johnson, Ernest V.
Jones, I. S.

Jewett, W^m. R.
Johnson, O. L.

Jackson, Ira W,
Jerome, F. S.

Jordan, Alex.
Johnson, Henry D,
Jones, E. J.
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KueWer, C. A.
Kimiball, R W.
Knox, H. L.

Kronig-, Samuel
Kingsbury, A. B.
Keppler, Geo. A.
Knight, W. W.
Kimball, C. H.

Lathrop, A. D.
La'throp, J. L. & Son
aLiearned, B. P. & Co.
Lee, €. B.

Lee & Osgood Co.

Lester & Wasley
Lewis, N. B.

Lippitt, Costeilo
Lippitt, Norris S.

Latham, Allen
Lee, John M.
Lerou, H. M., Corporation
Lamb Noyes D.

Mad'den, O. P.

Maine, A. B.
Maples, P. .T.

Mcpherson, J. C.

Moran, J. A.
Morgan, J. A. & Son
Mur,pihy & McGarry
MoCormick, D. J.

Merrill, F. H.
Morgan, Henri A.
Messenger E. Y.
Murphy & Nichols
Mitchell, John L.

Peck, McWiiliams & Co.
Perkins, R. W.
Phelps, C. H.
Pierson, E. R.
Plaut-Cadden Co.
Pollock, H. M.
Porteous & Mitchell Co,
Porter, H. B. & Son
Potter, A. L. & Co.
Powers, R. M.
Pooler, Geo. P.
Pratt, G. H.
Pratt, Rev. Lewellyn
Pratt, L. W.
Prentice, E. A.
Preston Brothers
Pettis, H. H.
Patrick, F. H.
Peck, W. E.
Pullen, F. H.
Parker, H. F.
Potter, Sherwood B.
Park, Angus
Perry, E. E.
Pfeiffer, Joseph D.
Palmer & Rogers
Powelson, J. H.
Pulsifer, D. F. & Co.

Nicholson, W. H.
Nelson H. T.

Norwic'h Morning Bulletin

Koyes, C. D.

Rallion, H. D.
Reid & Hughes Co., The
Reynolds, O. H.
Raymond, G. S.

Ring, M. B.

Robinson, T. A.
Royce, F. I.

Rogers, John F.

Rogers, Noah Jr.

Robbins, Z. R.
Rumford, Franklin
Rathbone, C. A.
Raphael, Ellis

Rogers, W. T.

'Oat, John B.
Oldfield, E,

Osgood, F. L.

•Otis, A. Thatcher
Otis, Rohert Wi

Parker, R. S.

Pearson, C. W.
Peck, Ira L.

Scott, J. H.
Sempie, J. W.
Senft, A. J.

Shannon, J. B.

Shea & Burke
Shields, W. H.
Smith, A. C.

Smith, J. F.

Spalding, A. S.

Stanton, H. L.
Stark, C. E.

Stearns, W. L.

Steiner, Col. H. J.

Stetson, V. S.

Sussman, Morris
Stocking, S. S.

Stanton, John B.
Storms, C. S.

Service, James F.
Schwartz Bros.

Tarrant, Nicholas
Thayer, C. F.

Thompson, George
Tibbits, E. H.
Tibbits, H. W.
Tirrell, Henry A.
Torrance, A.
Tracy, Edwin A.
Treat, C. C.

Troy Laundry
Tingley, W. K.
Turner, Frank C.

Twist, Chas. J.

Ulmer, H. F.

Underwood, Dwight L.
Utley & Jones

Vaughn Foundry Co,

Walker, H. H.
Worcester, Rev. E. S.

Welles, J. H.
Winters, C. J.

Whitney, C. E.

Whittlesey, G. W.
Wholey, A. J.

Williams, C. M.
Williams, W. T.

Woodard, F. L.

Worth, J. C.

Wright, Rev. P. C.

White, Charles D.
Woodward, W. I.

Youn,?, John T.

Youngman, W. L.
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STANDING COMMITTEES, 1909.

Membership
Herbert M. Lerou, Chairman

George A, Keppler
Henry D. Jo'hnson
Robert E. Beardsley

Nathan A. Gibbs
Gurdon L. Bidwell
Edward H. Tibbits

John A. Moran
W. L. Stearns
R. C. Jones

John H. Scott
Thomas H. Beckley
George Thompson, iM.

N. B. Lewis, M. D.
Tyler Cruttenden
R. W. Kimball, M. D.

Lemuel M. Gilchrist
Augustus Coit*
James C. Henderson

Henry P. Parker
Otto E. Wulf
George w. Whittlesey

John McWilliams
Grosvenor Ely
John Porteous

Nelson V. Porter
Samuel Anderson
W. I. Woodward

Costello Lippitt
John C. Averill
Joseph T. Panning

Henry J. Steiner
F. R. Wasley
Edward E. Perry

'George P. Blood
W. W. Knight,
A. J. Wholey,

Henry T. Nelson
D. J. Hayes
W. O. Rogers

Entertainment

Archibald S. S'palding, Chairman
Thomas P. Burns John T. Almy
Vs^illiam A. Breed W. S. Ailing
A. S, Comstock John L. Mitchell

Advertising

James C. McPberson, Chairman
'C. H. Haskell A. Thatcher Otis
Prank A. Bill Samuel Kronig
A. E. Beckwiith Otto Ernst

Education

Rev. Lewellyn Pratt, Chairman
C'harles N, Congdon Patrick Cassidy, M. D.
William G. Henderson Dwi^ht L. Underwood

D. Prank T. Maples Nelson J. Ayling

Health and Sanitation

Henry M. Pollock, M. D., Chairman
Allen Latham, S. B. Potter
R. M. Powers C. E. Stark, M. D.
John Donovan C. C. Treat

Statistics

Walter P. Lester, Chairman
C M. Williams Rev. E. S, Worcester
Nicholas Tarrant Daniel S. Haviland
C. A. Ratlibone A, Torrance

Reception

Prank H. Smith, Chairman
Archa W. Colt Prank H. Pullen
P. C. 'Crowell Eibenezer Allen
Herbert M. George A. C, Hatch

New Industries

Lewis R. Church, Chairman
R. C. Plant
P. W. Browning
Avery C. Smith

Horatio Bigelow
A. J. Dawley
Willis Austin

Transportation

Henry P. Ulmer, Ohairman
John T. Young
W. R. Jewett
E. A. Prentice

Rufus W. Marshall
John Campbell
S. B. Case

Public Improvements
John D. Hall, Chairman

Rev. P. C. Wright Winslow T. Williams,
Prank J, King Arthur D. Lathrop
Howard L. Stanton M. B. Ring

Legislation

Z. R. Robbins, Chairman
Wm. Caruthers
George A. Davis
Hugh Blackledge

Vine S. Stetson
Wallace S. Allis

Gilbert S. Raymond

*Deceased.
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THE NORWICH BOARD OF TRADE.

PAST PRESIDENTS.

HTJOH HENRY OSGOOD 1887-1888

HENRY H. GALLUP 1889-1890

ARTHUR H. BREiWER 1891-1892

WILLIAM A. AIKEN 1893-1894

COSTELLO LIPPITT 1895-1896

CHARLES H. PRESTON 1897-

ALONZO R. ABORN 1898-1899

AMOS T. OTIS 1900-1901

JEREMIAH J. DEISIMOND. . .1902-1903

CHARLES E. CirANDLER. . .1904-190S

S. ALPHEUS GILBERT,

OFFICERS.

1906-1907

President FREDERIC W. CARY
First Vice-President EDWIN A. TRACY

Second Vice-President HENRY A. TIRRELL

Third Vice-President JOSEPH D. HAVILAND

Secretary HENRY W. TIBBITS

Treasurer C. LESLIE HOPKINS

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE.

The President, the Vice-Presidents and

Charles F. Thayer, William B. Young,

Charles H. Preston, Timothy C. Murphy,

S. Alpheus Gilbert, ex officio.

FINANCE COMMITTEE.

William B. Young, Joseph D. Haviland,

AUDITORS.

Nathan A. Gibhs. Norris S. Lippitt.

Frederic W. Cary,
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Since the last issue of the Quarterly, three members of the Board

of Trade have passed away. Augustus Coit, one of the most promis-

ing young men of the city, and assistant cashier of the Uncas Na-
tional Bank, died March 22d, at the early age of 33 years. He was
prominent in various social organizations and was affectionately re-

garded by all who knew him.

The death of Rufus W. Marshall occurred April iith. His con-

scientious methods in protecting the interests of his customers in

their dealings with the railroad and steamboat lines enabled him to

build up the largest trucking business in the city. He was 58 years

of age at the time of his death.

The death of Thomas H. Cranston occurred May ist. He was
associated with his brother in the book and stationery business and

was one of the quiet forces in the community who exert, as in his case,

a wonderful influence for integrity and right in all business and social

relations. His age was 52.

Since the annual meeting the following new members of the

Board of Trade have been elected : Louis M. Carpenter, Frank Hemp-
stead, Ellis Raphael, James L. Crawford, Joseph T. Cruttenden, D. F.

Pulsifer & Co., Reuben S. Bartlett, AVillis T. Rogers, H. H. Walker,

Guy B. Dolbeare, Frank E. Beckwath, Patrick J. Cassidy and George

S. Draper, added March 31st; William B. Birge, added May 4th; John
H. Powelson, John M. Lee, Foss & Bailey, and W. F. Bailey, added

June 2d.

The death of Frank T. Brown, April 17, 1909, removed a member
of the executive committee of the Norwich anniversary, and one of

the foremost law^yers of the state. Mr. Brown was serving the city

as corporation counsel at the time of his death. He Avas also a di-

rector of the Hopkins & Allen Arms Co., and the Boston & ]\Iaine

Railroad. His death occasioned universal sorrow as he was a man
of distinguished ability who could ill be spared from the community.

The record of financial and industrial and mercantile growth of

Norwich for the past 25 years is shown in the advertising columns of

this issue.
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THE DUAL ANNIVERSARY.
Arrangements for Celebration of the 250th Birthdav of the Town and

125th of the City.

The first official action looking towards a cclel)ration of the dual

anniversaries of the city and town of Norwich in 1909 was taken by
the court of common council at their meeting July i, 1907, Mayor
Charles F. Thayer, presiding, when it was voted on motion of Alder-

man N. B. Lewis, that the matter of the 125th anniversary of the city

of Norwich be referred to the amusement committee.

The next organization to take action on the matter was the Board
of Trade. At a meeting of the executive committee held February 3,

1908, President F. W. Gary, presiding, the matter of celebrating the

250th anniversary of the settlement of Norwich was discussed.

Mayor Charles ¥. Thayer moved that the president appoint an anni-

versary committee to confer Avith such committees as might be ap-

pointed by other organizations.

The Board of Trade committee so appointed met March 14th,

Charles E. Chandler, chairman, presiding, and on motion of Winslow
T. Williams voted that the anniversary committee of the Board of

Trade recommend to the executive committee a celebration of the

250th anniversary of the founding of the town of Norwich and further

recommend that steps be at once taken to arrange for such celebra-

tion in 1909 by calling a mass meeting of the citizens of Norwich for

the appointment of a general committee.

On March 23, 1908, the executive committee on moiion of \\m.

B. Young voted to accepted the report of the anniversary committee

and authorized 'them to proceed along the lines suggested.

The anniversary committee of the Board of Trade held a second

meeting April 6th and invited the amusement committee of the city

to join with them. At this meeting arrangements were perfected for

calling a mass meeting of the citizens, in accordance Avith the follow-

notice

:

''All residents of NorAvich and vicinity Avho are interested in the

commemorating of the 250th anniversary of the settlement of the

town and the 125th anniversary of the incorporation of the city are

requested to meet in the ToAvn Hall, Wednesday, April 8th, 1908, at

8 o'clock p. m., to make preliminary arrangements for the due cele-

bration of these cA'-ents.

Charles E. Chandler. Frederic W. Cary, Charles D. Noycs,

Winslow Tracy AA^illiams, Albert L. Potter, HoAvard L. Stanton,

Charles W. Gale, - Henry Gebrath, Arthur D. Lathrop,

John Eccles, Geo. M. Hyde, Charles F. Thayer,

Committees of Board of Trade and Common Council."



i8 THE NORWICH BOARD OF TRADE QUARTERLY

The meeting was called to order at eight o'clock by Charles

Chandler with seventy-five persons present. Edwin A. Tracy was.

elected chairman on motion made by Charles D. Noyes. Gilbert S.

Raymond was elected secretary on motion of William H. Shields.

After a short address by the chairman, William H. Shields of-

fered the following resolution which was unanimously passed

:

''Moved That it is the sense of this meeting that the 250th an-

niversary of the settlement of the town and the 125th anniversary of

the incorporation of the city should be celebrated in 1909."

Adams P. Carroll offered the following resolution

:

''Moved, That the chair appoint a committee of five to nominate

a permanent committee of arrangements of about one hundred mem-
bers ; the names to be reported in alphabetical order with the idea

that said permanent committee should elect their own chairman."

Charles E. Whitney offered a motion to amend the resolution by
inserting the words "or more" after one hundred. This amendment
was passed. Winslow T. Williams moved to strike oui" the words

"one hundred members or more," which was passed. The original

motion was passed with the words "of about one hundred members""

stricken out.

Dr. P. PI. Harriman ofi'ered the following resolution which was
unanimously passed

:

"Moved, That to the committee to be elected be delegated all

the powers of this meeting, including the power to add to its member-
ship, to appoint sub-committees of its members and others for special

purposes, and the full power to raise and expend money and make
every arrangement for the celebration."

Chairman Tracy, under the second resolution passed, appointed"

a committee of five, consisting of the following members : William
H. Shields, Charles E. Chandler, Winslow T. Williams, Aron W.
Dickey and Frederic W. Cary.

This committee retired to prepare a list of members of the com-
mittee and a recess was ordered by the chairman.

The committee of five reported the names of one hundred and
sixty-six members as a committee of arrangements which was read

by the secretary, and approved by the meeting. Subsequently eighty-

five additional names were added, the complete list being as follows

:

William A. Aiken, Jonathan H, Allen, nell. Amos A. Browning, Lucius Brown,
M. D., John C. Averill. Wallace S. Al- Frank T. Brown. George C. Butts, Will-
lis, Nelson J. Ayling. Leonard B. Almy, iam F. Bogue, Charles R. Butts, Wm.
M. D., Rev. J. J. Ambot, D'wight W. A. Breed, Wm. B. Birge, Thos. F.
Avery, Fitch L. Allen, jos. D. Aiken, Burns. Waterman R. Burnham, Mar-
Willis Austin, Geo. W. Adams, Herman tin Burns, Ellsworth E. Baker, Jacob
Alofsin, Samuel Anderson. C. Benjamin, Rev. J. A. Broden, Rev.
Frank W. Browning, Horatio Bige- H. A. Beadle (Franklin), W. W. Bent-

low, John A. Brady, Nathan L. Bishop. ley (Bozrah), F. E. Beckwith.
E. P. Bishop, Arthur H. Brewer, Charles Albert H. Chase, Rev. Neilson Poe
Bard, Willis A. Briscoe, Richard Bush- Carey. Frederic W. Cary, Lewis R.
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Church, Adams P. Carroll, William
Caruthers, James L. Case, Patrick
Cassidy, M. D., Rev. Joseph F. Cobb,
Albert S. Comstock. Charles N. Cong-
don, Charles E. Chandler. Felix Calla-
han, Chas. J. Carew, E. H. Crozier, W.
B. P. Cranston. S. Ashbel Crandall,
Chas. Billings Chapman, M. J. Connell
(Lis'bon), Geo. A. Oomeau, Tyler Crut-
tenden.
A. J. Dawley, Jeremiah J. Desmond,

Aron W. Dickey. Francis E. Dowe,
John Donovan, Charles B. Davis
(Franklin), George A. Davis, Alexan-
der H. Disco, M. H. Donahue (Baltic),
Henry B. Davenport.
iGrosvenor Ely, John Eccles, Rev. G.

H. Ewing, Otto Ernst.
William D. Fitch, Joseph T. Fanning,

Joihn E. Fanning, Calvin H Frisbie,
John R. Fowler.
Charles W. Gale, Henry H. Gallup,

Henry Gebrath, S. Alpheus Gilbert,
William C. Gilman, James Graham,
Gardiner Greene, James Grierson, Fr<3d-
eric P. Gulliver, Nathan S. Gilbert,
Lemuel M. Gilchrist, Prof. J. H.
George, Squire Gregson, M. J. Green,
Alphonso J. Grant, Jacoib Gordon.

EdWr. W. Higgins, John A. HaglDerg,
Al'bie L. Hale, Joseph Hall, Joseph D.
Haviland, Edward Harland, Patrick
Harriman M. D.. Gilibert L. Hewitt,
Michael C. Higgins, William F. Hill,

J. A. Hiscox, C. Leslie Hopkins,
Cha,rles L. H:ubbard, Albert C. Hatch,
George M. Hyde, Calvin L. Harwood,
Charles S. Holbrook. John D. Hall,
John P. Huntington, George R. Hyde,
'Michael J. Higgins, Samuel G. Harts-
horn (Franklin), Curtis L. Hazen
(Sprague), Frank E. Hull (Sprague),
Chas. H. Haskell, Alexander C. Hark-
ness (Preston), Edw. P Hollowell
(Preston), H. J. Hirsc'h.
Oliver L. Johnson, Charles Amos

Johnson, Raymond J. Jpdoin (iSprague).
A. B. Kingsbury, Rev. M. S. Kauf-

man, Frank J. King, Samuel Kronig,
George A. Keppler, Rush W. Kimball,
M. D., Thos. J. Kelly.
Thomas B. Linton, Arthur D. La-

throp, Bela P. Learned, Charles B. Lee,
Herbert M. Lerou, Frederick W. Les-
ter, iC'os'tello Lippitt. Francis J. Leav-
ens, Albert W. Lillibrid:ge, Thurston B.
Lillibridge, N. B. Lewis, M. D., Benj.
Lucas (Preston), Ira F- Lewis (Gris-
wold).
Christian A. Marx, John McWilliams,

E. Judson Miner (Bozrah). Timothv C.
Murphy, Chief John iMurphy, Archib^ild
Mitchell, Charles (). Murphy, Jas. C.
McPherson, John W. Mullen Jas. Mc-
Grory, W. E. Manning, John' H. Miner
(Bozrah).
William A. Norton. Charles D. Noyes.
W. Tyler Olcott. P. J. O'Connor,

Charles H. Osgood. Frederick L. Os-
good, William H. Oat.

Albert L. Potter. James B. Palmer
(Lisbon), William H. Palmer, Henry F.
Parker, Angus Park (Sprague), Arthur
L. Peale, George E. Parsons, A. Walton
Pearson, Henry G. Peck, George E.
Pitcher, Ira L. Peck, Joseph D. Pfeif-
fer, John Porteous, Thomas Potter,
George S. Porter, John H. Perkins, Rev.
Lewellyn Pratt, Edmund A. Prentice,
Frank H. Pullen, Charles H. Preston,.
Louis I. Pratt, M. D., Alex. B. Pendle-
ton (Bozrah), Chester Parkhurst,
gihepard B. Palmer, Rutherford C.
Plant. Hezekiah Perkins, Chas. W.
Pearson, W. E. Peck (Sprague).
John Quinn (Sprague).
Henry Ruggles, William C. Reynolds,

Rev. Charles H. Ricketts, Gilbert S.
Raymond, Zebulon R. Robbins, Thomas
A. Robinson, Orman E. Ryther, Wood-
bury O. Rogers, Frank A. Robinson,
Frank E. Robinson (Griswold).
Vine S. Stetson, John H. Scott,

George O. Stead, James B. Shannon,
Dennis J. Shahan, M. D., William H.
Shield's, Frank H. Smith, Archibald S.

Sipalding, HoAvard L. Stanton. Henry
J. Steiner, Owen S. Smith, Louis J..

Saxton, John T. Sullivan, Clarence D.
Sevin. N. Douglas Sevin, Chas. W.
Scott, John S. Sullivan (Bozrah).
William G. Tarbox, Nicholas Tar-

rant, Charles F. Thayer, John M. Thay-
er, Henry W. Tibbits, Witter K. Ting-
ley, M. D., Henry A. Tirrell, Edwin A.
Tracv, Rev. Hugh Treanor, Jonathan
Trumbull, Rev. W. T. Thayer, W. H.
Tift (Griswold).
Dwight L. Underwood.
Fred D. Vergason.
James H. Welles, Charles D. White,.

Winslow Tracy Williams, Rev. Peter C.

Wright, Frank L. Woodard, Otto E>
Wulf, Charles E. Whitney, Chas. W.
Wolf (Lisbon).

Alfred A. Young (Griswold), James
M. Young, William B. Young, H. L.

Yerrington, John T. Young. Peter T.

Y^oung.
Luther C. Zabriskie (Preston).

John McWilliams offered the following resolution which was

unanimously passed :
'

"Moved, That the chairman of this meeting issue a call for the

first meeting of the permanent com.mittee of arrangements."

Jonathan Trumbull ofifered the following resolution which was

unanimously passed

:

''Moved, That the secretary of this meeting turn over the records

of this meeting to the committee of arrangements."

The meeting adjourned at 9.10 p. m.
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FIRST MEETING OF THE PERMANENT COMMITTEE
OF ARRANGEMENTS.

The first meeting- of the permanent committee of arrangements

was held in the Town Hall on Friday evening, May ist, 1908, in ac-

cordance with a postal card call issued by Edwin A. Tracy, chair-

man of the preliminary meeting, about one hundred members being

present. In the absence from town of Chairman Tracy the meeting

was called to order at 8.10 p. m. by Gilbert S. Raymond, who was
secretary of the preliminary meeting.

The nominating committee reported through William H. Shields,

•chairman, the names of 85 additional members who had been added

to the permanent committee of arrangements, and this action of the

nominating committee was duly approved upon motion of John C.

Averill.

On motion of Frank H. Smith, Mayor Charles F. Thayer was

^unanimously elected permanent chairman of the committee.

Henry W. Tibbits made a motion that the Chair appoint a com-

mittee of five to nominate the permanent officers of the committee,

•and also to nominate an executive committee to consist of eleven

members. In accordance with this vote the chairman appointed

Henry W. Tibbits, William H. Shields, Dr. P. H. Harriman, Shepard

B. Palmer and Aron AV. Dickey.

After the nominating committee had retired the question of date

"and duration of the celebration was discussed. Frank H. Smith

moved that the date and duration of the celebration be left with

the executive committee, when appointed, with full power. John
-Eccles stated that the proper time was the Saturday, Sunday and

Monday of the first week of September. John Donovan thought

the celebration ought to be held all of the week beginning Sunday and

•ending Saturday. Frank H. Smith stated that a whole Aveek was too

long; that some of the members of the committee would get tired out

before the celebration was over. Orman E. Ryther felt that Labor
Day would be the right time for beginning the celebration but that

it would not be wise to decide on the duration of the celebration at

this meeting, because as plans developed the matter could be better

decided. George S. Porter thought a w^eek was about the right time

to hold the celebration and none too long. Mr. Smith's motion Avas

unanimously passed.

Amos A. Browning moved that the executive committee, when
appointed, be given power to appoint sub-committees, and Charles

E. Chandler amended that motion by giving the executive committee
full power to make all necessary arrangements. On motion of Fred-

eric W. Gary the last named motion as amended was tabled to be
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taken up after the report of the nominating committee was received.

On motion of Dr. Patrick Cassidy the manner of raisinj^ funds was
tabled until deemed advisable by the chairman to brim;- the matter

up again. The nominating committee reported, recommending the

election of the following officers :

President, Charles F. Thayer; vice-presidents, Edwin A. Tracy,

Winslow T. Williams, John Eccles, John McWilliams, Gen. William

A. Aiken and Jeremiah J. Desmond; secretary, Gilbert S. Raymond;
assistant secretary, William A. Breed; treasurer, Charles W. Gale;

executive committee. Dr. P. H. Harriman, Arthur D. Lathrop, John
Porteous, Albert L. Potter, AVilliam B. Young, Henry A. TirrclU

James B. Shannon, Charles D. Noyes, Timothy C. Murphy, Howard
L. Stanton and Albert S. Comstock.

Upon motion of Frank T. Brow^n the report of the nominating

committee was accepted and the officers and executive committee

unanimously elected.

Amos A. Browning moved that the resolution made by him,,

amended by Charles E. Chandler and laid on the table on motion of

Frederic W. Gary be taken from the table and passed, which action

was unanimously voted.

William H. Shields moved that the officers and members of the

executive committee be consolidated into one body to be known as.

the executive committee, which w^as unanimously passed.

Dr. P. H. Harriman moved that the executive committee be

empowered and authorized to fill all vacancies Avhich may occur,,

which was unanimously passed.

O. E. Ryther moved that the president of the permanent com-

mittee be also ex-officio chairman of the executive committee, which

was unanimously passed.

Adjourned at 8.55 o'clock.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETINGS.

First Meeting.

The first meeting of the executive committee of the anniversary

celebration was held in the Board of Trade rooms, Thursday even-

ing, May 2ist, 1908, at 8 o'clock.

Present—Charles F. Thayer, Edwin A. Tracy, John Eccles, Will-

iam A. Breed, Charles W. Gale, Dr. P. H. Harriman, William B.

Young, Henry A. Tirrell, James B. Shannon, Charles D. Xoyes,

Howard L. Stanton, Albert S. Comstock, William A. Aiken, John

Porteous and Gilbert S. Raymond.

On motion of General Aiken, it was voted that the time of the
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celebration be in September, 1909, the exact date to be determined at

a later meeting.

On motion of E. A. Tracy the chairman was given power to ap-

point a committee of five whose duties would be to nominate mem-
bers of the various sub-committees.

Second Meeting.

The second meeting of the executive committee was held in the

directors' room of the Thames National Bank, on Thursday afternoon,

June 4th, at 5 o'clock.

In the absence of Chairman Thayer, First Vice-President Edwin
A. Tracy, presided.

The secretary read a letter from Charles F. Thayer, in which he

tendered his resignation as president of the permanent committee of

arrangements and the executive committee and his membership on

both committees, and, upon motion of John Eccles, the same was ac-

cepted with regret.

The following named members were chosen to serve as a com-

mittee to nominate a president of the permanent committee of ar-

rangements and a chairman of the executive committee : Henry A.

Tirrell, Edwin A. 'Tracy, Albert S. Comstock, Charles D. Noyes and

P. H. Harriman.

On motion of Henry A. Tirrell it was voted that the secretary be

;authorized to obtain clerical assistance at the expense of the com-

mittee and that he be paid for postage and other necessary expenses.

Third Meeting.

The third meeting of the executive committee was held in the

Board of Trade rooms, Wednesday afternoon, June 17th, at 4 o'clock.

The meeting was called to order by Vice-President John McWilliams.

Henry A. Tirrell presented the report of the nominating commit-

tee recommending the choice of General Edward Harland as president

of the permanent committee of arrangements and Edwin A. Tracy as

chairman of the executive committee. This report was accepted, the

recommendations therein contained adopted.

Gilbert S. Raymond was elected secretary of the executive com-

mittee.

Winslow T. Williams was elected vice-chairman of the executive

committee.

It was voted^ on motion of C. D. Noyes, that the chairman of the

executive committee be ex officio a member of all sub-committees

hereafter appointed.

Chairman Tracy appointed William B. Young, Dr. P. H. Harri-

man, Henry A. Tirrell and Charles AV. Gale, a committee with him-
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self to name the members of the various sub-committees, and report
at a later meeting.

Fourth Meeting,

The fourth meeting of the executive committee was held in the
Eoard of Trade rooms, Thursd^, July 2d, at 4.30 o'clock.

On motion of Mr. Eccles it was voted that the resignation of

William A. Breed as assistant secretary be accepted and on motion
of Henry A. Tirrell, Grosvenor Ely was elected to fill the vacancy.

It was voted on motion of Winslow T. Williams that all plans in-

volving the expenditure of money must be submitted by the sub-com-
mittees to the executive committee for approval before any contracts

were made or expenses incurred.

It was voted on motion of Timothy C. Murphy that all monies
raised by the executive committee be paid to the treasurer of the gen-

eral committee and paid out by him only on bills or vouchers approved
by the sub-committee incurring the expense and by the finance com-
mittee, such approval to be certified on the bill or voucher by the

chairman and one other member of the sub-committee and at least

two members of the finance committee.

On motion of Dr. Harriman it was voted that the secretary of

the executive committee be empowered to furnish all necessary

stamps, stationery and report books to all sub-committees.

The report of the nominating committee on sub-committees was

presented and the following committees elected : Finance, Literary

-Exercises and Speakers, Printing and Publicity, Ways and Means.

Fifth Meeting.

The executive committee held a meeting July 29th, at 4 p. m.,

at the Central Eire Station. Thirteen members were present.

Col. C. W. Gale offered a motion that the celebration of the 250th

anniversary of the town and the 125th anniversary of the city be held

Tuesday and Wednesday, Sept. 7 and 8, 1909. This resolution was

unanimously adopted.

The committee on nominations reported the names of the mem-
bers of the invitation committee and they w^ere elected as read.

Sixth Meeting.

The sixth meeting of the executive committee of the anniversary

'Celebration Avas held in the Central fire station on Friday, October

^d, 1908, at four o'clock, w^ith the following members present : E. A.

Tracy, Charles AV. Gale, AVilliam B. Young, P. H. Harriman, Howard

L. Stanton, John Eccles, John Porteous, James B. Shannon, Arthur D.
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Lathrop, AVinslow T. Williams, JTcnry A. Tirrell, William A. Aiken

and Gilbert S. Raymond.

Chairman Tracy reported proj^ress by the various sub-committees.

On motion of General W. A. Aiken, it was voted that the ex-

ecutive committee enter into no advertising schemes in connection

with the celebration but that the affair be conducted by direct con-

tributions from the town, city and private citizens.
^

Mr. Williams favored an official program which should be without

advertising and distributed without charge.

Chairman Tracy submitted a form for a letter head for the execu-

tive committee which, on motion of ]\Ir. Williams, was approved and

referred to the committee on publishing and printing.

On motion of Mr. Williams, it was voted that the program be

prepared by a sub-committee to be appointed by the chairman.

Seventh Meeting.

The seventh meeting of the executive committee was held at the

Central fire station on Monday afternoon, October 26th, at 4 o'clock.

A letter from General Edward Harland resigning as president of

the general committee was read by the secretary and on motion of

Mr. William B. Young, was accepted.

At the request of Chairman Tracy, Vice-President McWilliams-

took the chair and Mr. Tracy addressed the committee, nominating

Mr. W. T. Williams as president of the general committee. Mr.

Williams was unanimously elected.

On motion of Mr. Gale, Dr. P. H. Harriman was unanimously-

elected a vice-president to fill vacancy.

On motion of General Aiken, Frank T. Brown was unanimously

elected a member of the executive committee to fill vacancy.

Chairman Tracy reported that the committee on printing and

publicity had accepted a proposition of the Porteous & Mitchell Co.

to print one-half million postal cards in eight colors and fifty subjects,,

for use in advertising the celebration.

The ways and means committee have been successful in securing

an appropriation of $5,000 from the town of Norwich.

The Scandanavian society have purchased a float used at the Hart-

ford celebration and originally costing $450 and intend to use the same

in the coming parade.

Chairman Tracy announced the appointment of the following-

program committee: Winslow T. Williams, Grosvenor Ely, Johni

Porteous and the chairman, ex officio.
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Eighth Meeting.

The eighth meeting of the executive committee was held at the
Central fire station, Wednesday afternoon, November i8th, 1908, at 4
o'clock.

On motion of Mr. Williams it w^as voted that the preliminary
report of the committee on literary exercises be approved and there be
recommended tv^o historical addresses, one to cover the first two hun-
dred years of the history of Norwich and the second the last fifty

years.

On motion of Mr. Williams it was voted that Chairman Tracy be
requested to procure designs and prices of silk badges.

On motion of Mr. Williams it was voted that all actions of sub-

committees should be submitted to the executive committee for final

approval.

Ninth Meeting.

The ninth meeting of the executive committee was held at the

Central fire station, December 28th, at 4 o'clock in the afternoon.

Reports of various sub-committees were presented and approved and
several bills ordered paid.

Tenth Meeting.

The tenth meeting of the executive committee was held at the

Central Fire Station on Saturday, February 27th, 1909, at 3 o'clock

in the afternoon. On motion of Gen. Aiken it Avas voted to accept

the report of the sub-committee of w^ays and means as presented by
Mr. Gale and adopt the recommendations therein contained. On
motion of Mr. Williams it was voted that the secretary be empowered
to engage forty rooms at the Wauregan House for the use of the

committee* and guests at the time of the celebration. On motion of

Mr. Eccles the chairman and secretary were empowered to order

5,000 letter heads. A proposed form of silk badge, w^oven in Coven-

try, Eng., was exhibited. On motion of Mr. Williams it was voted

that the general design, as shown, be approved and that the commit-

tee be given power to order 3,000 to be complete Avith bar ready for

use. On motion- of Mr. Williams it was voted that the nominating

committee nominate members of the several committees and report to

the executive committee at their next meeting. On motion of J. J.

Desmond it was voted that the secretary write the senator from this

district and the representatives of the town of Norwich in the general

assembly requesting them to do everything possible to aid in the

passage of an act validating the appropriation of $5,000.00 by the

town for the celebration. .

5
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Eleventh Meeting.

The eleventh meeting of the executive committee was held at

the Central Fire Station Tuesday afternoon, April 6th, 1909, at 4

o'clock. Messrs. Tracy and Williams gave a detailed account of

their visit to President Taft, accompanied by Senators Bulkeley and

Brandegee and Representative Higgins. Mr. Gale presented the fol-

lowing resolution which was adopted

:

''Resolved, That the vote of the Executive Committee naming

September 7th and 8th, 1909, as the days for the celebration of the

250th anniversary of the settlement of the town of Norwich and the

125th anniversary of the incorporation of the city be rescinded and

that the dates July 5th and 6th be substituted therefor as the time

for holding the celebration."

The secretary read the report of the nominating committee which

report was accepted and the various committees appointed.

On motion of Dr. Harriman it was voted that the number of

badges to be ordered be increased from 3,000 to 5^000.

On motion of Gen. Aiken amended by Mr. AVilliams, Dr. Harri-

man was elected chairman of the Committee of Safety with full power
to appoint his associates with the view of restricting the use of ex-

plosives on July 5th.

Twelfth Meeting.

The twelfth meeting of the executive committee was held at

the Central Fire Station, Monday afternoon, April 12th, 1909, at 4
o'clock.

It was voted to accept the of¥er of Sedgwick Post, G. A. R., for

the use of the war office in the Buckingham Memorial during the

celebration.

On motion of Dr. Harriman it was voted that the executive com-
mittee invite no outside organizations, except military, to take part

in the celebration.

On motion of Charles D. No3^es it was voted that the Putnam
Phalanx of Hartford, Conn., be invited to participate in the celebra-

tion.

The form of invitation to be extended to the inhabitants of the

town outside of Norwich, but within the original nine miles square

was approved as was also the form of invitation to former residents

and distinguished guests.

On motion of Mr. Young it was voted that $100.00 be appro-

priated for the expenses of the sub-committee on invitation for ad-

vertising for names to whom invitations should be sent and for clerical

assistance.
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On motion of Dr. Harriman it was voted to order 5,000 general
invitations at a cost of $410.00.

On motion of Mr. Stanton the matter of ordering 250 committee
badges at 25c each, as proposed in the letter of Whitehead & Hoag
Manufacturing Company, was left with Chairman Tracy with power.

The secretary read a letter from Mrs. Ellen K. Bishop, Regent,
Paith Trumbull Chapter, D. A. R., in which she stated the Chapter
Avould attend to the matter of a loan exhibit.

Mr. Williams read a report from the programme committee in

which a proposed programme was suggested.

On motion of Mr. Williams it was voted to refer to the commit-
tee on decorations a communication received from the Women's
Guild, asking that steps be taken to preserve the trees in the streets

•and parks against the ravages of insects and beetles.

Dr. Harriman gave a comprehensive report of the doings of the

committee of public safety. The committee recommended that all

of the fire houses should be fully equipped with apparatus and men
ready for service during the celebration and that the fire department

should not be invited to take any part in the celebration.

It was recommended that the use of all explosives and firearms

Le prohibited by enforcing the cit}^ ordinance relative, thereto.

The committee recommended that ambulance and dispensary

service be established under the charge of Supt. Symington and the

^imbulance be held in readiness at the City Barn to answer emergency

•calls and that a corps of four Red Cross nurses be provided ; that the

free dispensary on Washington Street be open the entire day of the

celebration and all emergency cases taken there.

The committee also recommended that the Health Officer pro-

vide public toilet accommodations.

On motion of Gen. Aiken the report of the committee of public

safety was adopted.

Thirteenth Meeting.

The thirteenth meeting of the executive committee was held in

the Central Fire Station, Monda}^ afternoon, April 27th, at 4 o'clock.

Mr. William B. Young presented the report of the nominating

committee and the committees on procession and hospitality were

elected.

On motion of IMr. Young it was voted to appropriate a sum of

$1,500 for bands.

On motion of IMr. Stanton it was voted to appropriate $1,500 for.

^ise of the fire works committee.

On motion of Mr. ]\Iurphy it was voted that the sum of $300.00
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be voted to Faith Trumbull Chapter, D. A. R., to pay necessary ex-

penses of loan exhibit.

On motion of Dr. Harriman it was voted to invite the six com-

panics of the Connecticut Coast Artillery of New London, Norv/ich

and Danielson to take part in the celebration.

Fourteenth Meeting.

The fourteenth meeting of the executive committee was held at

the Central Fire Station on Monday afternoon at 4 o'clock, May 3,.

1909.

On motion of Mr. Tirrell the offer of the use of Buckingham

Memorial for July 5th was accepted with thanks to the Sedgwick

Post, G. A. R.

Tt was voted to authorize the literary exercises committee ta

incur any proper expense in connection with holding literary exer-

cises in Broadway Theatre.

Mr. Williams gave a report for the committee for the reception-

and entertainment of distinguished guests and read a list of 107-

names of prominent men to be invited and on his motion the report

was adopted and the list approved.

On motion of Mr. Williams it was voted that a letter be sent to-

the literary exercises committee requesting them to send a letter ta

the pastors of all of the churches in Norwich, asking them to deliver

special historical sermons and discourses on Sunday, July 4th.

On motion of Mr. Williams it was voted that the matter of ex-

tending an invitation to the state militia be left to the chairman with

powder.

On motion of Dr. Harriman it was voted that the matter of en-

tertaining the state militia be referred to the hospitality committee.

Fifteenth Meeting.

The fifteenth meeting of the executive committee was held in

the Central Fire Station, Saturday afternoon. May 15th, 1909, at 4.

o'clock.

A proposition was read from F. W. Burrowes, associate editor

of the New England Magazine, in which he offered for $250, to pub-

lish in their June issue an illustrated article of not less than 12 pages;

covering the historical and descriptive features of Norwich and the

program of the celebration ; no advertising to be solicited from local"

. parties and 1,600 copies of the said issue to be furnished the com-
mittee without further cost.

On motion of Mr. Williams it was voted to authorize the pub-
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licity committee to make a contract with the New England Magazine
in accordance with aforesaid letter.

A letter was read from Thomas J. Baldwin offering for $i,ooo
to bring his air ship, the ''California Arrow," to Norwich, and make
two ascensions daily.

On motion of Dr. Harriman it was voted that an appropriation
of $1,500 be made for the use of the amusement committee to cover
the expenses of the air ship, ball -games, prizes for athletic sports and
water carnival expenses.

On motion of Mr. Eccles it was voted that all the churches be
requested, through the hospitality committee, to open their vestries

for rest stations during the celebration.

Mr. Wm. B. Young was delegated to interview the descendants
•of the Mohegan Indians relative to taking part in the parade.

On motion of Mr. Eccles it was voted that an appropriation of

$1,000 be made for decorations and arches.

On motion of Dr. Harriman it was voted that an invitation to

attend the celebration and participate in the parade be sent to the six

companies of coast artillery, two companies Governor's Foot Guards,

the midshipmen, marines, regular and blue jackets in New London
liarbor.

It was voted to appropriate $300 to the literary exercises com-
mittee.

It was voted to issue a pamphlet for free distribution giving an

outline of the proposed program. Mr. Ely was delegated to confer

with the publicity committee regarding the printing of such pamphlet.

. Sixteenth Meeting.

The sixteenth meeting of the executive committee was held at

the Central Fire Station on Friday, May 27th, 1909, at 4 p. m.

It was voted to pay the several printing bills incurred by the

Porteous & Mitchell Co. in changing the date on the one-half million

souvenir postal cards.

A long petition was read by the secretary from the residents of

Greeneville, asking the executive committee to include that district

in the line of march, and that they be favored with their propor-

tionate share of the band concerts, and on motion of Mr. IMurphy

the matter of the line of march was referred to the procession com-

mittee, and on motion of Gen. Aiken it was voted to be the sense of

this meeting that Chairman Tracy represent the executive committee

in dealing with the music committee in considering the distribution

of bands.

On motion of IMr. Tirrell it was voted that a committee consist-

ing of Frederick P. Gulliver, Rev. George H. Ewing, William C. Gil-
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man and Fred T. Sayles be appointed to take charge of the anniver-

sary exercises in the First Church at Norwich Town on Sunday afters

noon^ July 4th.

The secretary read a proposed plan of historical tableau sub-

mitted by Mr. Leavitt, w^hich was favored by several of the mem-
bers who suggested slight changes, and on motion of Gen. Aiken an

appropriation of $600 was voted for that purpose, this matter to be
taken charge of by a sub-committee- of the amusement committee.

It was reported that the decorations committee had contracted

for the decoration of Main Street from Preston Bridge to Washing-
ton Square and Shetucket Street from Laurel Hill Bridge to Main
Street, and Broadway from Main Street to Union Square. It was
voted to make an extra appropriation of $1,000 to the decorations

committee and that they be instructed to investigate the cost of the

building of an arch and report.

On motion of Mr. Williams it was voted that the nominating

committee nominate a committee of five members to be confirmed by

the chairman of the executive committee who are to report on the ad~

visability and expense of erecting a grandstand.

Subsequent Meetings.

Frequent meetings of the executive committee were held as the

date for the celebration approached. Circumstances necessitated

various changes in the program and as the Board of Trade Quarterly

went to press other elaborate features were being added.
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HISTORY OF NORWICH.

BY FREDERIC W. CARY.

Introductory.

A history should accurately narrate and explain events that have
transpired. Its object may be either to entertain or to make applica-

tion of past events to present conditions. For the spirit of the time,

which pursues electricity more than immortality, the history of Nor-
wich that deals with the period of its greatest advancement in public

works and industries will be most useful, especially as that period has

not previously been covered by any historian. This was from

1865 to 1875. Vast development of Avater-power privileges, im-

mense outlays for water works, bridges, sewers and municipal build-

ings as well as the extension of the city limits and widening and
macadamizing the thoroughfares were public improvements projected

and contemplated in this period. The establishment and enlargement
of the industries of the town, and the erection of hundreds of dwellings

and mercantile buildings mark the decade as one of great significance

in the growth of Norwich. Before entering into the consideration of

the civic development of the town and the modernizing of the city a

glimpse is afiforded of the romantic early history of this locality.

Tales of the Indians.

The Pequot Indians were the earliest inhabitants of Norwich of

whom a.ny knowledge has been obtained. The settlement of the

English at Hartford, AA^ethersfield and Windsor in 1635 aroused the

hostility of the aborigines who lay in ambush on the roads and fields

and kept the whole colony in a state of alarm. Finally in 1637 an

expedition was fitted out under command of Major John ^Tason. The
force consisted of 90 Englishmen and 70 friendly Indians of the tribe

of Mohegans, who then possessed land on the Connecticut river.

Boarding three small boats this unique militia of the new state of

Connecticut sailed down the Connecticut river and along the shore to

Groton where the Pequot stronghold was attacked and destroyed and

the Pequots nearh- exterminated. This expedition resulted in the

settlement of the ]\Iohegans on the Thames river. The Yantic Avater-

fall seems to have been their favorite resort and outpost in their petty

quarrels Avith their foes, the Narragansetts. One of these encounters

AA^as the most conspicuous Indian fight recorded in the annals of Ncav

England in point of numbers engaged, the dignity of the sachems, and

Copyright, 1909, bj* Frederic W. Cary.
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the romantic incidents of the battle, inasmuch as it was a battle be-

tween hostile tribes without any participation by the English.

In 1643 Miantonomoh, sachem of the Narragansetts, secretly as-

sembled 500 warriors and invaded the Mohegan territory. Uncas
hastily assembled his men and took a stand at East Great Plain and

sent a messenger to Miantonomoh, who was fording the Yantic, re-

questing a parley. This being granted the chiefs met between their

two forces. Uncas made an ineffectual effort to induce Miantonomoh
to decide the issue of battle by a duel between themselves. When
negotiations were in progress Uncas threw himself upon the ground
and his followers treacherously discharged a shower of arrows upon

the enemy. The Narragansetts were taken off their guard and put to

flight after a short and confused attempt at resistance. Many came
suddenly through the thick woods upon the precipice at the Falls and

were driven over the rocks into the chasm below.

Miantonomoh himself was overtaken and captured near the She-

tucket river on Sachem's Plain. He was conducted by Uncas to Hart-

ford and surrendered to the custody of the government. His fate was
finally decided by five of the leading ministers of the colony of Massa-

chusetts who advised against his release. Uncas volunteered to ac-

complish the execution of his foe and escorted Miantonomoh back to

Mohegan territory, where he was dispatched near the place of his

capture and interred on the spot after Uncas had cut a piece of flesh

from his shoulder and ate it with a savage relish, saying it w^as the

sweetest meat he had ever tasted; it made his heart strong. This his-

toric spot was marked by a heap of stones which later gave way to a

granite block.

A harassing hostility between the two tribes ensued and Uncas

was assisted from time to time by the English whose excursions up

the Thames acquainted them with the fine grazing lands, the sparkling

streams, the wild ranges of upland forest and the excellent hunting

and fishing at the head of the stream.

The Settlement by the English.

Finally in 1659 a large proportion of the inhabitants of the town
of Saybrook entered into a compact to remove to Norwich and make
a settlement and in June of the same year Uncas deeded over nine

miles square of wilderness to the pioneers for the sum of $350. The
original proprietors as inscribed on the Mason monument were as

follows

:

Rev. James Fitch, Major John Mason, Thomas Adgate,

Robert Allyn, William Backus, John Baldwin, John
Birchard, Thomas Bliss, Morgan Bowers, Richard Edgerton,
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Francis Griswold, Christopher Huntington, Simon Hunt-
ington, William Hyde, Samuel Hyde, Thomas Leffingwell,

John Olmstead, John Pease, John Post, Thomas Post, John
Reynolds, Jonathan Royce, Nehemiah Smith, Thomas Tracy,
Thomas Bingham, John Bradford, John Gager, Thomas
Howard, Thomas Waterman, John Tracy, John Calkins,

Stephen Gifford, Josiah Reed, Richard Wallis, Stephen
Backus, Richard Hendys and Robert Wade.

The settlers came by boats from Saybrook in the spring of 1660,

disembarked at the old Indian landing place at the Falls, followed

the Indian trail along the banks of the river to the present location of

the Backus Hospital, which was the attractive spot selected for the

new settlement. The settlement of Norwich was peculiar in that it

did not grow in the usual way by accession from different quarters

but came upon the ground a full-fledged town and church.

The name Norwich was undoubtedly bestowed in remembrance
of Norwich, England. The new settlement was sanctioned by the

g-eneral court, the township surveyed and a highway opened the fol-

lowing fall. The settlement was accepted and enrolled as a legal

township under the government of Connecticut in May, 1662.

Every enterprise that tended to advance the public convenience

was patronized by a grant of land. The earliest recorded town act was
December 11, 1660, when the town contracted with John Elderkin to

erect a mill for grinding corn, a liberal bonus of land being granted

to encourage this infant industry. A ferryman and a blacksmith were

similarly induced to locate in the town, and two hundred acres of land

w^ere voted to Capt. Fitch as an inducement to set up a saw mill.

No exchange of house lots and lands could be made by the original

settlers without consent of the town and no transient was allowed to

take up his abode without general consent.

For the first fifty years the only use made of that quarter of the

town where the business section of the city now is was for a sheep

walk and the whole point between the Shetucket and Yantic rivers was

considered of no value. In 1684 ^ committee was appointed to lay out

sufficient land for a public landing place which was done at the mouth

of the Shetucket river. In 1694 a highway was opened from Norwich

Town to the Landing and the building of boats on the river bank was

begun.

It was not long before lots were in demand along the water's

•edge for commercial purposes and the inhabitants entered upon a

period of commerce and trade that caused the ''Landing" to prosper

and thrive until in 1784 a section of the town was incorporated as a

city.
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At the Close of the Civil War.

No epoch in the business history of Norwich has been more full

of promise than the period that marked the close of the Civil War.
Since the first settlement of the town by Major John Mason and his

pioneer band of 35 from Saybrook, in 1659 and 1660, no industrial

boom equal to that of 1865 had been recorded. Mills were driven as

never before, especially in the production of cotton goods, of wdiich

the country had been completely drained. Operatives vv^ere scarce

notwithstanding- the great influx of immigrants from the British Isles',

wages were high and the mills were operating 16 hours a day. The
enormous dividends paid by the cotton mills during this period stimu-

lated capital to investment in manufacturing enterprises and new cor-

porations were formed with great rapidity.

The farmer, too, was reaping a large harvest for his services..

Corn was $2.35 a bushel, butter 60 cents a pound and milk 10 cents a.

cjuart. As a result more farmers discharged their indebtedness irt

1864 and 1865 than in any year in the history of Norwich since 1816.

Building and Manufacturing.

Neither the high price of material nor the great advance in wages-

served to check the building operations in Norwich and many large

projects were completed or inaugurated during 1865. In the vicinity

of Baltic street, J. G. Lamb had opened up a tract of land on the Bos-

well farm. This was subsequently developed by William S. Hemp-
stead and others and 60 dwelling houses were erected within a few

months. Otis street was accepted as a city thoroughfare and became

a scene of building operations, an $8,000 parsonage being erected for

the Second Congregational Church. Yet tenements of the middle

class were still in great demand and not to be had at any price.

The Norwich Bleaching and Calendering Company broke grouncL

for another large mill, under the stimulus of new capital supplied by

Governor Buckingham.

Colonel Chas. A. Converse was developing the upper water privi-

lege at the Falls and in this year completed a mill and factory building

for housing the cork industry which was then in a very flourishing

condition.

A new industry at Nos. 3 and 5 Water street Avas established b\^

W. L. Hedge, of Norwich, and Capt. J. Hunt Smith, late of ]\Iadison

County, New York. Forty hands were employed 20 hours a day turn-

ing out 180,000 yards of skirt bands w^eekly, from worsted yarns.

The mill at Yantic, destroyed by fire May 26tli, 1865, was bein^

rebuilt by E. Winslow Williams^ of stone, the building larger than

ever, and four stories high.
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John Turner's new mill on East Broad street reached completion,

and was occupied for the manufacture of sash cord and spools.

Other buildings begun in this year were the iUillclin l)uil(ling^

the Dunham block and the Roath street schoolhousc.

Two pursuits, which have since become obsolete in Norwich, Avcre

being vigorously sustained at this time. In the railroad shops at

Greeneville the passenger and freight cars were manufactured for the

Norwich and Worcester railroad. Shipbuilding was an important
industry at Thamesville. July 15, 1865, saw the launching of the

screw propeller steamer "Hunter," a boat of 600 tons burden, built bv
Thomas P. Wetmore for J. M. Huntington & Co., for their new line

between New York and Savannah, Ga. In these pcacea])le pursuits

the incessant demands of the army led to a deficiency of laborers.

Warlike Trades.

The armories and machine shops, Avhich had developed an as-

tounding activity during the Civil War, were exceptions to unusual"

success of all kinds of manufacturing enterprises. The demand for

firearms suddenly ceased and the two factories of the Norwich Arms
Company, one on Franklin street and the other in Greeneville, were

brought to a sudden close. The government inspectors departed

August 21, 1865, and the machinery and stock passed under the ham-
mer of the auctioneer to satisfy the internal revenue claims of the

government and other indebtedness. The capacity of the Norwich

Arms Company was greater than that of the government armory at

Springfield at the commencement of the war. It was astonishing with,

what ease and celerity the capitalists and artisans of Norwich em -

barked upon the manufacture of complicated firearms without previous-

experience or training. In the height of their prosperity this one com-

pany completed 1,200 muskets, 3,000 bayonets and 2,000 locks per

week, besides carbines and rifles.

A recession might also be noted in other lines which had been

stimulated by the war, such as sail-making and the manufacture of

military coats and tents. At one time James ^l. Nelson employed.

200 hands, turning out 1,000 coats a week.

Water Power Development.

The eyes of practical men were opened to the wealth of the water

power sites in the vicinity of Norwich. Scarcely in New England

could be found such a large number of water falls, within such a small

area and capable of such easy and cheap development.

The purchase in Sept., 1864, of 700 acres of land lying in the

towns of Norwich, Sprague and Lisbon by IMoses Pierce and L. W.

Carroll, resulted in the following year in the founding of the new
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villages of Occum and Taftville. There were two water privileges in

this tract. On October 15, 1865, the lower privilege with a fall of 30
feet and 550 acres of land were purchased by Messrs. Taft, of Provi-

dence, who immediately formulated plans for the erection of a dam
and the largest cotton mill in New England.

Previously the dam at Occum had been started. The stone work
was in charge of Albertus Peckham. There was a canal 40 feet wide
-and the dam itself was almost unprecedented at the time, being 800

feet long, with a roll way of 300 feet. Two mills at once sprung up,

l)Oth devoted to the manufacture of woolen goods, and occupied by

J. H. Converse & Son and The Hooper Co. These enterprises at

Occum and Taftville, for which a lasting debt of gratitude is due the

foresight, sagacity and daring of Messrs. Pierce and Carroll, were
shortly to add over 5,000 souls to the population of the town of

-Norwich.

Politics.

The year 1865 saw a Norwich citizen, Hon. Lafayette S. Foster,

presiding over the national senate and acting vice-president of the

United States. Senator Foster was a man of position and great in-

fluence and his colleagues imposed such confidence in his judgment
-;and impartiality that the unusual privilege had been accorded to him
•of appointing all the committees of the senate.

In May, 1865, David A. Wells removed to Washington to assist

in revising the internal revenue laws of the country. He was honored

^by Congress with the appointment as special .commissioner of the

revenue of the United States, an office never before nor since known
in the history of the republic. Into the financial chaos, resulting from

the war, he threw the whole weight of a clear, strong mind, guided by
an honest heart, and he was largely instrumental in effecting an entire

reconstruction of the complicated and burdensome system of internal

revenue.

In local political affairs the Union party had no opposition.

James Lloyd Greene was re-elected mayor, June 5th, and received 317
votes out of a total of 325 cast. Probably this was the smallest vote

ever recorded at any Norwich city election. The common council

was organized as follows

:

Aldermen—Lorenzo Blackstone, Wm. C. Osgood, Zadoc C.

Crowell, Joseph A. Smith. Councilmen—Enoch F. Chapman, Robert

G. Coit, Lyman Gould, Gurdon P. Cottrell, Benj. M. Upham, Gilbert

L. Congdon, Benj. B. Whittemore, Nathan S. Gilbert. Clerk—John

L. Devotion. Treasurer—Francis A. Dorrance. Sheriffs—Z. R. Rob-

bins, James Ritchie.

The town election held Monday, October 2d, passed off very
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quietly. The Union ticket was elected by an average majority of 410.
The selectmen were Samuel B. Case, Charles Crawley and John T.
Brown. Othniel Gager was permanently established in the offices of
town clerk and treasurer.

The one burning question submitted to the voters at this electior^
was the matter of county seat. One of the most bitter contests ever
waged between Norwich and New London had been precipitated by
the destruction of the old Norwich court house by incendiary fire,

April II, 1865. Both towns claimed the honor of being made the
shire town of the county. Of the total county vote at this election,

4,131 ballots were cast in fav.or of holding court exclusively at Nor-
wich. Although the opposition mustered only 2,819 votes, the project
still lacked the necessary two-thirds to ensure its adoption and the

building of a new court house at Norwich was indefinitely postponed.

The probate court was located at this time in the savings bank
building next the Trinity Church.

The common council met in their chamber in the city building on
Main street, beneath which, in the basement, was located the room
for transients.

In the meantime the superior court held its various terms in

Treadway's (now Lucas) Hall, paying $12.00 a day for the privilege.

Police Department Reorganized.

The police headquarters and city court rented a room in the

Breed Hall building. L^p to 1835 the good people of Norwich Avere

so quiet and well behaved that no watchmen Avere required, but about;

that time some precautions were necessary on account of the fre^

quency of incendiary fires. A volunteer night watch was established,,

consisting of a number of elderly citizens, who occasionally made the

rounds of the city during the darkest hours of the night. This service

was supplemented by one or two bank watchmen. In 1850 a system

of paid city watch was organized, the duties of the watchmen being

to patrol the city from twilight to daybreak and light and extinguish

the street lamps. Later, one day policeman was put on about the city

but, owing to the popular outcry against the expense, he was with^

drawm in 1864.

On August 10, 1865, the common council adopted a new city

ordinance establishing a city police department, composed of three

commissioners who were members of the council. A chief was.

elected, whose duties were nominal and who served without pay ; a

captain with a salary of $850; lieutenant, $800, and seven patrolmen
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who were each paid $750 a year. The members of the force were ap-

pointed and appeared Sept. 11, 1865, in dark blue uniforms, with a

badge on the cap and a star on the breast. One or more of the mem-
bers were to be on duty at all hours of the day and night. There was
no contest over the selection of the members of the new force with
the exception of the lieutenant, but three meetings and 29 ballots

were necessary to fill this office. The force as originally constituted

was as follows :

Chief—Zadoc C. Crowell. Captain—Nathan Small. Lieutenant

—Joab B. Rogers. Patrolmen—Charles S. Peale, John Benson, John
P. Avery, Nathaniel U. Covell, Russell Richardson, John Ilankley and
George Douglass.

One of the duties of the new force was to keep the sidewalks clear

of the boxes of the merchants.

Banks.

The seven banks of Norwich were arranged by their directors in

1865 as National banks under the general banking act of Congress.

The stockholders of the Merchants bank were the last to nationalize,

June 12, 1865. The money order system was introduced in the Nor-

wich post office at about the same time.

Local Transportation.

In the spring of 1865 the Connecticut legislature gave permission

to build a horse railroad in Norwich^ as soon as $50,000 had been sub-

scribed for the stock. The high price of iron caused the incorpora-

tors to delay organization. In the meantime transportation facilities

^ibout town w^ere being supplied by various omnibus lines. Three

new routes were established during the year. Moses St. John, land-

lord of the Greeneville hotel, started a line from his hotel to the West
Side depot on a two-hour schedule.

Sept. 7th, John Hough, just returned from a four years' gallant

service in the First Connecticut Cavalry, opened a stage line between

Shetucket street and Bean Hill. The fare was 10 cents and four round

trips were made daily.

On Sept. 22, 1865, G. A. Bushnell announced an omnibus line to

run from the American House to Occum and Hanover.

Diversions.

The diversions of the inhabitants of Norwich at this time were
taseball, roller-skating and croquet. C. B. Rogers & Co. were man-
ufacturing roller skates and the craze was taken up by the women as
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Avell as the men, resulting in many protests being registered in the
press and pulpit against the practice of skating by the weaker sex.

The game of croquet was introduced into Norwich in 1865 and 100
sets were sold in a few weeks. Norwich l)ecame the cro(juet center
•of the country, a distinction that has been perpetuated to the present
time, as the annual meetings of the National Croquet Association are
•still held at the Rose of New England. In Sept., 1865, a sort of busi-

ness men's club was formed with rooms at the Wauregan House
where the members were given the privileges of stock quotations over
the recently established system of The Insulated Line Telegraph Com-
pany. Mrs. Lucretia Bradley Hubbell entertained the large audiences

in Treadway's Hall by lectures on phrenology, physiogonomy and
physiology and gave laughing gas exhibitions. The Norwich Horti-

•cultural Society held its first annual fair Sept. 26, 1865, in Breed Hall,

and prizes w^ere aw^arded of the value of $250.

Taxes and Incomes.

The grand list of the town of Norwich in 1865 ^vas $10,970,435, of

^vhich over $50,000 w^as entered by colored residents. The city debt

Iiad been increased only $3,000 during the years 1861-65, covered by
the Civil AVar, Avith a tax rate of three mills. The town had borne

the burden of the war, a large item of which had been the giving of

l)Ounties. With a towm tax rate of 12 mills the towai debt increased

in these four years $72,933 and the total disbursement for Avar pur-

poses were $164,178.68.

The burden of taxes imposed to carr}^ on the Avar Avas cheerfully

met by the citizens of Norwich. In addition to the local taxes there

Avere imposed by the government a manufacturer's tax, a legacy tax,

a special income tax, excise taxes and A^arious other taxes too numer-

ous to mention or understand.

From May, 1864, to jNIay, 1865, the total federal taxes paid by

New London County Avere $758,400.14, of Avhich $344,762.52 Avas col-

lected from Norwich, and $78,290.65 from Ncav London and Water-

ford.

The incomes of NorAvich business men at this period Avere uni-

iormly large as a consideration of the following schedule Avill demon-

strate. These incomes represent the net amounts receiA^ed from trade

and investments but do not include dividends received from ])ank or

insurance stock and railroad bonds. All interest and taxes paid by

these indiA'iduals have also been deducted from the amounts hercAvith

^iven as their yearly net incomes. The list Avill serve to enumerate
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the leading men of Norwich in

Civil War in 1865.

Name and occupation. Income.
Abbot, E. O. cotton mfr $10,080.

Adams, J. Hunt banker 6,978.

Breed, John hardware 27,282.

Blackstone, Lorenzo cotton mfr 41,246.

Bucking-ham, I. M. cotton mfr.. 17,632.

Ballou, Leonard cotton mfr. . . . 12,042.

Bill, Henry publisher 6,923.

Brewster, Augustus pres. N. &
W. R. R 10,580.

Buckingham, W. A. Governor.. 39,968.

Chappell, Edw. lumber and coal 28,502.

Case, George tanner 11,090.

Case, S. B. tanner 11,716.

Carroll, L. W. merchant 11,019.

Carew, J. S. rubber mfr 13,827.

Coit, George rolling- mill 5,783.

Coit, Daniel 9,635.

Ely, J. S. revenue collector.... 5,049.

Foster, L. F. S. vice-pres. U. S. 7,843.

Greene, J. Lloyd mayor 17,600.

Greene, Gardiner cotton mfr. . . 15,720.

Huntington, Jedediah 11,536.

Huntington, Jedediah 3d ma-
chine mfr 6,239.

Hubbard, J. L. paper mfr 12,621.

Hubbard, A. H. paper mfr 24,082.

Hammond, H. K. grocer 7,518.

Halsey, J. lawyer 5,795.

Hyde, Lewis farmer
Huntington, J. M. iron and ship-

ping-

Jones, Gurdon A, Jr. shoes....
Johnson, Chas. banker

6,506.

7,000.

8,437.

8,417.

point of wealth at the close of the

Name and occupation. Income
Johnson, Frank banker 7,517.

Loring-, Henry J 11,619.

Lee, Charles drugs 5,473..

Leavens, Jedediah cotton mfr. . 11,837.

Learned, Eben insurance 13,181.

Morg-an, Samuel C. lawyer 6,578..

Mowry, Samuel axle mfr 12,623..

Morgan, John A. coal 5,C32.

Mitchell, John iron and ship-
ping 10,957.

McCurdy, Theo. F. farmer 5,592..

Norton, Wm. T. wholesale
grocer . 20,800.

Norton, T. P. wholesale grocer 22,257.

Norton, Henry B. wholesale
g-rocer 23,969..

Osgood, S. C. shipping 5,679.

Osgood, Charles drugs 28,904.

Osgood, Gilbert drugs 5,126.

Prentice, A. W. hardware 6,038.

Pierce, Moses bleaching 11,126.

Rudd, H. F. farmer 13,887.

Rogers, C. B. machinery 13,879.

Rawson, C. G. grocer 5,000..

Sturtevant, A. P. woolen mfr. . 18,654.

Smith, David paper mfr 13,331..

Slater, J. F. cotton mfr 104,269.

Spalding-, Charles cork mfr. . . . 6,973.

Tracy, H. B. banker 5,877..

Williams, Wareham dry goods 7,279.

Williams, William shipping- 23,293.

Whittaker, Horace real estate. 8,975.

Wait, John T. lawyer 10,654.

Memorial Service for Andersonville Dead.

On Tuesday, February ist, 1866, Norwich paid a last tribute to>

the remains of the soldiers who gave up their lives in the prison pen

at Andersonville, Ga., and business was generally suspended. After

the services at Breed Hall, the coffins were placed on a large funeral

car and escorted to Yantic cemetery by the police, Norwich brass

band, Norwich Light Infantry, New London rifles, officers and
soldiers of the Eighteenth C. V., fire department, Gov. Buckingham
and staff, Mayor Greene and the common council. The impressive

burial service was read at the cemetery by the Rev. Andrew Mackie

of Trinity Church. The names of the soldiers were Sylvanus Dowmer,
Wm. G. Hayward, J. H. Winship, Edw. Blumley, William Davis,

Edw. F. Tisdale, James S. McDavid, H. F. Champlain and George W..

Ward, the latter being privately interred in the family lot.

Politics.

In the campaign prior to the state election the final meeting w^as,

held in Breed Hall, March 31st, and was addressed by General James
A. Garfield, whose children claim descent from Major John Mason.



THE NORWICH BOARD OF TRADE QUARTERLY

At the city election June 4, 1866, James L. Greene declined a
renomination for mayor and was succeeded l)y Alderman Lorenzo
Blackstone. During Alayor lUackstone's administration, which lasted

until 1870, many public improvements were projected and comi)leted.
At this time the yearly expenses of the police department were $7,500.
fire department, $2,413.70, highways, $5,834.16, and street lighting

$3,901.68. The fall election resulted in the re-election of the principal

town officials. During the year the town debt was decreased $25,000,

and the town tax was reduced from 12 to 10 mills.

The Fenian Raid.

The attitude of England towards the union during the Civil War
served to create a public sentiment favorable to the h\'nian move-
ment. A company of sixty men under command of Capt. R. .Mc-

Donald left Norwich, June 5, 1866, to strike a blow for the liberation of

Ireland, the expenses of the expedition being borne by a public sub-

scription of $1,000. At Highgate, Vt., they joined other volunteers

under Gen. Spear. The invading army at this point numbered 3,000

men, only one-tenth part of wdiom were armed. Crossing the border

into Canada they advanced two miles be3'ond and pitched cam]).

Sending out a foraging expedition they purchased a fat heifer irom a

farmer who took his pay in the bonds of the Irish Republic. At night,

after a bountiful repast, they slept in houses and barns. Three days

later this band was compelled to retreat on the approach of the

Canadian troops in front and the United States regulars in the rear.

They proceeded in orderly manner to St. Albans, Vt., and were pro-

vided with transportation to their homes by the United States govern-

men. The Norwich company reached home June nth. The
stringent measures taken by the government rendered success im-

possible.

Various Matters.

At the annual town meeting of 1866, Edwin Fay, Wm. Peckham

and Harvey Chapman were appointed a committee to superintend the

staking out of oyster grounds. The oyster law provided that oysters

should not be taken in any rivers, creeks, harbors or waters of the

state between IMarch ist and Xovember ist, except by persons who

had planted oysters. It was nothing unusual to see a iieet of 100

small boats draw out of the harbor at the opening of the season. The

river oysters w^ere unusually fine, full, fat and of excellent flavor.

Notable improvements were made in 1866 by widening ]\lain

street from the old Giles Buckingham place to the ^lerchants hotel

building, a three-foot strip being donated by Henry Allen.

On August 9th, The Bulletin was issued from the new building

6
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in an enlarged form with new type. The post office harl previously

l)een moved into the Main street side of the building, Col. Chas. M.

Coit having succeeded H. H. Starkweather as postmaster on May 29th.

Laurel Hill Bridge.

At a town meeting held May 26, 1866, it was voted to build a

new iron bridge across the Shetucket river to Laurel Hill. The

selectmen contracted with John Hutchinson, of Troy, to erect this

bridge which was of a type known as Whipple's Trapezoidal Roadway

bridge at a cost of $26,000. The old wooden structure thus replaced

was erected by a few public-spirited citizens in 1850. Later the towns

of Preston and Norwich each contributed $300 to cover it and finally

when Laurel Hill became a part of Norwich the care of the bridge

w^as assumed by the town of Norwich. In the meantime Laurel Hill

had grown from one house to forty-eight houses, fifty-live families

find fifty-nine children, and the old structure became inadequate.

The old bridge was sawed in tv^o October ist and lowered upon a

temporary trestle work, where it remained until the new structure

was put in place. An accident on December 22d, caused by the

slipping of the new truss on the east side precipitated one section into

the river and delayed the work several weeks and caused the con-

tractor a loss of $1,500. Two weeks later a vandal cut tw^o guys on

the Laurel Hill side but the guys on the west side held and the inten-

tion of throwing the bridge into the river was foiled. Finally,

January 31, 1867, the last of the old bridge was removed.

The Freshet of 1867.

On February loth the uncompleted dam at Occuni w^as badly

damaged by a freshet and the adjacent bridge across the Shetucket

was swept away. At Montville a dam 32 feet high on the Oxoboxo

gave way and caused a loss of $40,000 to the Pequot Co. The wall

of the new brick paper mill of Campbell, Hall & Co., at Greeneville,

was undermined and fell into the river causing a damage of $20,000

and necessitating a reorganization of the concern with f'-'esh capital

as the Chelsea Paper Mfg. Co.

The dam at Sprague owned by H. L. Read & Co. gave way; loss,

$10,000. The dam at Eagleville was also ruined and the King Woolen

Co. suffered a loss to buildings and machinery of over $50,000. The

total damage to property and adjacent villages was over $300,000,

which was subsequently increased by two freshets in the following

August.
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Steamboats.

The new iron steam1)oat of the Xorwich Line, the City oi Lawrence,
Capt. Wm. Wilcox, arrived in Xorwich, March ist, 1867. This boat
was 245 feet long- and at full load drew only 7>4 feet. ThQ predeces-
sors of the City of Lawrence on this line to New York were as fol-

lows :

1820, Fulton, and Connecticut
; 1821, Long- Jiranch

; 1822, Henry
Eckford; 1824, New London and Fanny; 1825, Experiment; 1832, An-
drew Jackson; 1836, Xorwich; 1838, Fluntress

; 1840, Charter Oak;
1841, Worcester; 1842, Cleopatra; 1843, New Llaven

; 1846, Atlantic;

1847, Knickerbocker; 1850,, Connecticut, 2d; 1855, Commonwealth;
i860, C. Vanderbilt; i860, Commodore; 1861, City of Boston; 1862,

City of Norwich and City of New York; 1863, City of X\nv London.

Fire Department.

Two new engines were added to the Norwich fire department in

February, 1867. These were the so-called Jeffers engines and could

make steam in five minutes and on test through 1,000 feet of hose

threw a stream 20 feet higher than the Wauregan House. The en-

gines were for the William M. Williams and Neptune companies. A
new station for the former costing $6,000 Avas erected at the Falls,

land having been given by the X^ew London Northern Railroad in ex-

change for the privilege of closing a highway over the railroad tracks

north of the depot.

Religious Activity.

There was a great religious awakening in X^'orwich in 1867. Large

additions were made to all the churches and there was a great increase

in the receipts from pew rents. The auction sale of slips in April

resulted as follows

;

Christ Church, $4,000; Sachem Street Methodist, $1,100; First

Congregational, $2,100; Trinity Episcopal, $2,500; Broadway Congre-

gational, $6,000; Universalist, $2,000; Central Baptist, $3,500; Second

Congregational, $5,600; First Baptist, $800; East ]\Iain Street

Methodist, $1,150. A new Catholic Church was started at Bean Hill

and St. Mary's cemetery at Greeneville was consecrated Alay 19th.

Broadway Church purchased as a parsonage the homestead owned by

the estate of Mrs. Terry on Broadway at a price of $10,000. Buck-

ingham chapel was also occupied and the corner stone of a new Epis-

copal chapel at Greeneville Avas laid X'ovembcr 25th. The Congre-

gational Church at Greeneville was cut in two by F. Gary, and

a new section built in the center at a cost of $4,000, adding some 200
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sittings. This structure was erected in 1835. ^^^^^ Sachem Street

M. E. Church was remodeled at a cost of $2,500 and a larger sun-k

was expended on the Universalist edifice.

Great Industrial Growth.

Among the new industries beginning operations in 1867 were the

Norwich Paper Collar Co., organized in June with a capital of $30,000^

and occupying the machine shop on Willow street. George W. Cilley

was treasurer and mechanical expert of the company and 30,000 col-

lars were produced daily.

The grain elevator building near Central Wharf was begun iu

the fall by Cottrell, Dyer & Co., five stories high and 106 by 93 feet

in size.

The Norwich Lock Co. occupied the Bacon Arms building. This

concern Avas capitalized at $25,000 to manufacture a patent combina-

tion mortice and rim lock invented by H. B. Tyler, of Norwich, and

also Long's patent padlock and extension key. Col. Joseph Selden

was president, James Brady, agent, and Robert Kerr, secretary of the

•new company.

Apollos Richmond, of Brooklyn, Conn., purchased 650 feet front

on the river and Thames street early in 1867 for $17,000 and began

the erection of a brick foundry for the manufacture of stoves. A
stock company was organized with a capital of $300,000, known as.

the Richmond Stove Company. At the start they gave employment

to 125 hands.

In the summer the Norwich and Worcester Railroad Compan}?-

erected the car shops on North Main street, including a round house,,

machine shop, boiler shop, blacksmith shop and carpenter shop.

The Pequot Machine Co. were spending $45,000 on Central AMiarf-

in new buildings and reclaimed about one acre of land. Their product

-consisted of steam engines, iron, cotton and w^ood-working machinery.

They employed 75 hands.

The old Merchants hotel was rebuilt by E. AA^inslow AA'illiams

at an expense of $19,000. A room was provided for the sessions of

the courts in the third story and Avas occupied by the supreme court

of errors Nov. 18, 1867. On Aug. 12, 1867, Avork began dredging the

harbor. The sand and clay taken from the bed of the riA'er Avere

dumped on the east side of the river Avhere the NorAvich & Worcester
Railroad were erecting a ncAv dock, 1.080 feet long. A line of spiles

Avas driA^en in the river about 350 feet from the railroad track, permis-

sion haAnng been given by the court of common council. These ncAA"

industries resulted in an influx of skilled mechanics and there Avas a
great scarcity of tenements. The advertisement of one A acant tene-
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ment brought over loo applicants. Amasa C. Hall began the erection
of a long block of tenements on Franklin street as well erecting a
house for himself on Broadway at a cost of $30,000. Ten new homes
were completed on Laurel Hill at a cost of $75,000. On Market street
a new brick block was erected by Mrs. Hannah G. Ripley. The
twine mill of John Turner w^as doubled in size and large additions
were made to the bleachery and paper mill in Greeneville. Greene-
ville was fast becoming an important part of the town. The census
of 1867 revealed a population in this village of 2,706, of whom 891
were American birth, 1,375 Irish, 261 Scotch, 82 English, 58 Canadian
and 29 German.

The erection of a new dam by the Falls Co. to replace their leaky
wooden structure was begun in April. IMain street was greatly
widened at the approach to Central Wharf. Lands and buildings be-

longing to the estates of John Breed and Calvin Tyler were acquired,

cleared and thrown into the highway.

Central Wharf Bridge.

A new bridge being needed over the Yantic river at the approach
to Central Wharf a number of town meetings were held to decide

what type of a bridge to construct. There was a strong sentiment for

a draw bridge at this point. A stone arch bridge had many advo-

cates but the expense of both having been deemed prohibitive the

selectmen were instructed to construct an iron arch bridge as designed

by Evan Burdick, the town to supply the labor and materials, at a

cost of $23,000.

The bridge was nearly completed November 14th, when, without

warning, it fell into the Yantic river about 7 o'clock in the evening,

taking a heavily loaded team, three horses, tw^o mules and three men.

The bridge sank out of sight but the men and animals were saved by
the prompt action of Capt. Pettigrew of the schooner Thomas Fitch

which was lying near and by Thomas B. Leahy, an employe from the

store of A. W. Prentice & Co., wdio brought coils of rope as soon as

the crash was heard. The bridge was constructed of wrought iron

ribs, covered with heavy boiler iron. It was built in the form of an

arch and some six feet low^er than the street at either end, necessitating

the filling in on top of a great quantity of gravel. The cause of the

disaster w^as the weakness of the abutments. Mr. C. H. Bailey, of

Salem, who was driving the mule team when the bridge fell, recovered

$1,100 from the town.

At a tow^n meeting held December ist, a committee of six was

appointed to act with the selectmen to submit plans for another bridge.

This committee was composed of Moses Pierce, Alba F. Smith,

Richard Colburn, Wm. C. Osgood, Benjamin Durfey and P. St. M,
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Andrews. They contracted with Harris & Hawkey, of Springfield,

to erect an iron truss bridge, known as Howe's patent, at a cost of

$7,250 for the superstructure. This bridge was opened the following

May.

Norwich Water Works.

The city streets were continually torn up for the laying of pipes

of the rival private water companies. There were twenty-five reser-

voirs and cisterns in the city limits.

The yearly revenue from the principal ones Avas as follow^s

:

Laurel Hill Aqueduct Co $ 300.00
Norwich Aqueduct Co 3,000.00
W. W. Coit reservoir 1,800.00

Norwich Plain Aqueduct Co 3,500.00
Alba F. Smith 50.00
Wm. A. Buckingham 50.00
James Bottom 150.00
Dr. E. C. Kinney 400.00
Dr. Chas. Osgood i75-00

Capt. Edw. Roath 250.00
D. B. Miner 300.00
Geo. Bottom & Co., West Side 250.00

$10,225.00

Public action was first taken at a special city meeting held in

Treadway's Hall, May 7, 1866, upon the petition from citizens to

provide Norwich with an adequate supply of pure Avater.

The mayor and court of common council were instructed to peti-

tion the legislature for permission to issue bonds not to exceed

$100,000 for the purpose.

Jedediah Spalding, A. F. Smith and Gardiner Greene were ap-

pointed a committee to investigate the subject. Alba F. Smith was
one of the leading citizens of the town. One of his notable achieve-

ments as superintendent of the Hudson River Railroad was in push-

ing to completion the railroad bridge over the Hudson at Albany.

In accordance with a vote of the court of common council on

May 7th, the mayor and city attorney petitioned the general assembly

to amend the city charter and the legislature on June 7th passed the

desired act.

The w^ater committee made a report at a special city meeting held

December 27th and the same was unanimously accepted. The com-

mittee recommended the purchase of the watershed subsequently

known as Fairview Reservoir and estimated the expense of developing

the same and laying the necessary pipes at $150,000. One other

source was considered at Trading Cove brook, to utilize which it was
necessary to impound the water and lay pipes 2]/? miles to Central
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Wharf and from this level lift it by pumps to a distributing reservoir

of half an acre in extent and ten feet deep located near ihe summit
of Jail Hill. The estimated cost of the pumps was $15,000 and of the

distributing reservoir about the same amount. On the 29th day of

December, 1866, the amendment to the city charter authorizing the

construction of water works, was accepted by vote in city meeting.

On the 19th day of January, 1867, a city meeting authorized the-

court of common council to issue bonds to the amount of v$ 100,000.

On the 2ist of January, the court of common council a])i)ointed

Alba F. Smith, Jedediah Spalding, Gardiner Greene, James S. Carew
and Nathan S. Gilbert, a board of water commissioners, to serve until

the next city election, when the entire board was continued in office

with the exception of Gardiner Greene, avIio was succeede.i by Henry

L. Clark. Mr. J. T. Fanning was appointed secretary and engineer

of the board.

The commissioners formulated a plan for the impounding of the

water in a natural basin about one mile easterly from the Norwich

Town Green. The proposed location consisted of about sixty-six

acres of pasturage, wood and mowing lands, which it was proposed

to thoroughly clear of all vegetation and inclose with a bank wall ot

rough masonry. The dam was to be 35 feet high and 468 feet long.

The elevation of the reservoir overflow would be 253 feet above the

surface of the Thames river, at low tide, 216 feet above the surface

of Main street at the Wauregan house corner and 19 feet above the

highest point of Jail Flill. The storage capacit}^ would be about

333,000,000 gallons of water.

This plan was submitted to the court of common council Sept.

13th, 1867, and the estimated cost for reservoir and mams was put

at $185,000. A few days later considerable excitement Avas caused

by anonymous letters in the ncAvspapers condemning the project and

declaring the whole scheme impracticable and absurd. A petition was

circulated for a city meeting to rescind the votes authorizing the con-

struction of the new water works. This meeting was held October

.i8th and a resolution was introduced disapproving the plan as pro-

posed, ordering its abandonment and rescinding all contracts entered

into by the commissioners. A vote on this motion Avas post'poned

until November 8th, Avhen the result Avas as follows :

Whole number of Azotes cast 793

For Avater 443

Against Avater 35^

Majority in favor of Avater 93

The NorAvich Savings Society took the Avhole of the first issue

of bonds, the city paying 6% interest on the same. Subsequently,

on July 25, 1868, $50,000 additional bonds Avere issued and taken by
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the Chelsea Saving's Bank at par. The court of common council

sul)sequently authorized the sale of additional bonds to the amount
of $100,000 to complete the water works. The length of the reser-

voir constructed was i}i miles; the average width about 480 feet

and the average depth iGjA feet. About 12^ miles of cement lined

and coated wrought iron pipe was laid by contract. The reservoir

was built by day work under the management of the water com-

missioners and the supervision of Morey B. Cole. Eighty teams and

400 men were set at work in the spring of 1868. About 20,000

stumps from 4 to 36 inches in diameter were removed, burned on

the ground and the ashes carted away. Three hundred thousand

cart loads of material were excavated from the bed of the lake.

No fatal accident occurred during the entire construction of the

reservoir nor was a death recorded of any one connected with the

work during its progress. The reservoir gate was closed for filling

the reservoir Oct. 23, 1868, and the Avater began to overflow the

wasteway Jan. 16, 1870.

The first public test of the fire hydrants was made by Chief

Engineer AVm. M. Williams, Jan. 8, 1869. The pressure on Frank-

lin Square was 955/2 lbs. to the square inch and w^as suflicient to

force a stream over a five-story building, through 400 feet of hose

attached to a hydrant.

The original cost of construction of the water supply was as

follows

:

Land and damages $ 5,664.88
Water pipes, gates, etc 121,375.55

Labor and machinery at reservoir 135^859.87
Engineers, office expenses 3,744.05
Other expenses 1,024.77

$267,669.12

It is interesting to note that the commissioners efi^ected a sav-

ing of over $30,000 by constructing the reservoir by day labor as

the lowest bid for the same submitted in response to advertisement

was $167,750.25. There were seven other bids, the highest being

$394471.25.

The City in 1868.

In 1868 Avhile the vast expenditures Avere being made by the city

for Avater Avorks, other equally important public improvements Avere

not neglected, especially Avas the cause of education advanced by the

erection of ncAv schoolhouses. One district A^ed Avith another in this

respect. It seems incredible that in one year fiA'e ncAv school buildings



THE NORWICH BOARD OF TRADE QUARTERLY 49

should have been erected when the burden of taxes was so large.
District taxes were greatly increased so that a large part of the ex-
pense for the new buildings was taken care of at the time of erection.

The West Chelsea district erected two modern buildings, one on
West Thames street and one on^ Pearl street. The building com-
mittee Avere Rev. J. R. Johnson, A. B. Young and Palmer I.cwis.

In Greeneville, Paul B. Greene, William H. Page, Owen Stead,
Gardiner Greene and George W. Dubison were appointed a committee
to erect a nine-room building 60x95, 60 feet high, at a cost of $30,000.

This building w^as partl}^ destroyed by fire h\^bruarv 2, 1872, and
damaged to the extent of $18,000.

A new building was being erected on School street on the loca-

tion of an old wooden school-house. J- Huntington, John L.

Devotion and E. W. Yerrington were in charge of this matter and
$30,000 was appropriated for the purpose. Even East Great Plain
joined in the extension and George AV. Gould and T. Y. Winship were
intrusted with the expenditure of $4,500 to erect a new wooden
structure in this district.

New business blocks erected in 1868 were Steiner Hall, a building

69 X 160, and the Richards block, both on Main street. To clear the

cliff-like site for the latter, 3,000 tons of rock were broken and re-

moved.

Other building operations were conducted on a large scale.

Huntington Place w^as laid out and opened and Lincoln Avenue was
lined with new^ residences, altogether 320 dwellings and seven new
factories being begun or completed in 1868 and loi new stores opened.

Extension of City.

Within the city limits there arose a feeling that the outlying dis-

tricts of the town should participate in the advantages of the city.

This feeling crystalized into action in April when at a council meeting-

held on the 13th, on motion of Alderman Peale, a committee was ap-

pointed to investigate the extending of the limits of the city and make

application to the legislature for permission to extend. Mayor Lo-

renzo Blackstone, Alderman Peale, Alderman X. S. Gilbert, Council-

man Mitchell and the city attorney were named as the committee.

Petitions Avere sent to both branches of the legislature for the annexa-

tion of Greeneville, Bean Hill, Norwich Town and East Great Plain.

The outlying districts soon were aroused to place themselves on

record on the question.

A meeting was held in the lecture room at X(M-wich Town, ]\Iay

2d. ]\Ioses Pierce was chairman and Edward Harland, secretarv. On
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motion of Col. John T. Wait, a committee was appointed to prevent

the proposed extension of the city limits -to Norwich Town.
The electors of East Great Plain assemljled in their district

school-house, May 9th, and declared unanimously against that farming-

district being taken into the city.

A large meeting of the citizens of Greeneville was held Alay 4th

and voted unanimously to oppose annexation. A committee con-

sisting of Benjamin Durfey, Paul B. Greene and T. C. Gordon was
appointed to consider the propriety of petitioning the legislature to

form a new town from Greeneville and a part of Preston to be called

the town of Shetucket. In the meantime Preston voters had met and

expressed themselves in favor of incorporating the village into a

borough. The residents of Laurel Hill held several meetings in op-

position to the proposed extension.

The petitions were presented to the legislature in ^lay and re-

ferred to the committee on incorporations. The remonstrances of

John T. Wait and Caleb B. Rogers and 248 others were referred to

the same committee. The matter was fully argued before the com-

mittee by Mr. Pratt and Jeremiah Plalsey for the city and John T.

Wait, Lafayette S. Foster and Supply T. Holbrook for the various

suburbs. The committee report recommended that the petitions

should be continued until the next session of the legislature. The
result was foreshadowed by the opposition to annexation by both rep-

resentatives from the town.

In July the selectmen contracted with John D. Richardson, of

Troy, N. Y., to build- a Whipple patent bridge over the west arm of

the Yantic for $14,000, including abutments and pavements.

Meeting of American Board.

Norwich early earned its right to be known as the convention

city by the unusual hospitality always afforded to visiting delegations.

The year 1868 witnessed two extraordinary events in which the city

acted as host. The fifty-ninth annual meeting of the American Board

of Commissioners for Foreign Missions was held in the cit}^ October

7th, 8th and 9th. About 2,500 delegates were present. ]\Iark Flop-

kins, president of Williams College, called the opening meeting to

order in Broadway Church. On October 8th four Congregational

Churches were filled to overflowing. The entertainment of such a

large number of strangers taxed the resources of the community. Five

long tables were placed in Breed Hall and 600 were served at one time.

The Central Vermont Railroad stationed a train of Pullman ( ?) sleep-

ing cars on the W^est Side with a baggage car attached in which meals
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were prepared. The steamer W. A\'. Coit was tied up at the dock and in

addition to the staterooms aboard all ax ailahlc space was occupied l)y

cot beds for the use of the delegates. 'J'hc arrangcmenrs were in

charge of Rev. M. M. G. Dana. It is understood that a sum of v$5,ooo

was subscribed to meet the expenses of entertainment.

Seventh Regiment Celebration.

Nothing since the bicentennial celebration in 1859 created so much
interest and enthusiasm in Norwich as the visit of the Seventh Regi-

ment of New York, July loth. This visit had no special signficance

in itself. The regiment was accustomed to take an annual field day

and when deliberating upon the proper place in which to spend their

holiday in 1868, Norwich was mentioned among other cities and finally

selected through the influence of one of the officers who w^as ac~

quainted with the city. As soon as the proposed visit was known a

royal welcome was prepared. Local committees were api)ointed with

495 members. Col. Charles A. Converse was chairman of the general

committee, James L. Greene was chairman of the committee of in-

vitation, Lorenzo Blackstone, chairman of the reception committee^

and the collation, proinenade concert, military parade, finance and

decorations were in charge of Samuel C. Osgood, P. St. M. Andrews,

J. J. McCord, Elisha Slocum, Henry V. Edmond, chairmen of the re-

spective committees.

The regiment arrived under command of Colonel Emmons Clark

on the steamer City of Lawrence at 5 a. m., July loth. There was a

generous display of bunting and devices of welcome about the town.

Bells were rung, places of business were closed and there w^as a gen-

eral air of holiday making.

At 8.30 Mayor Blackstone and the special committee of reception

proceeded to the boat and welcomed the regiment wdiich then formed

on Shetucket street, the members appearing in their new dress uni-

forms with gray coats and white pants. They marched through the

principal streets of the city escorted by Companies B and C, Third

Regiment, C. N. G., under command of Captains Smith and ^IcCall.

At one o'clock arms were stacked on Chelsea Parade after a battalion

drill and a rush was made for the great dining tent erected on the

green. This tent Avas 205 feet long and 85 feet wide and the tables,

seated 1,000 people.

After the collation ^layor Blackstone introduced General A\ iH-

iams, one of the veterans of the war of 1812. Other speakers followed.

At s'p- ni., after dress parade, the regiment marched in the boat and

left their arms. In the evening a grand ball and promenade was held

in the big tent. A commodious stage occupied one end and space
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was set off for dressing rooms. Dancing and harmless flirtation with

the belles of the Rose of New England occupied the hours until mid-

night when the soldiers proceeded in leisurely manner to the boat

which left for New York at i o'clock.

A sequel to this visit came a year later, August 19, 1869, when a

committee of officers of the Seventh Regiment visited Norwich for

the purpose of presenting a costly testimonial of appreciation for the

reception they had received the year previous. Brevet Lt.-Col. Lewis

Fitzgerald, Major C. H. Meday and Capt. George W. Smith were met

at the Wauregan House by Mayor Blackstone and members of the

city government and chairmen of the various committees of the cele-

loration. Major Meday presented the testimonial Avhich was beauti-

fully engrossed as follows :

^'To Lorenzo Blackstone, Charles A. Converse, James Lloyd Greene,

Samuel C. Osgood, James J. McCord, Henry V. Edmond, E. P.

Slocum, P. St. M. Andrews, James M. Meech and others. Citizens

of Norwich :

''The officers and members of the Seventh Regiment send their

Icindest greetings. The late visit of this regiment to your beautiful

city will be forever memorable in its history. Its excursions to other

cities have generally been the result of official invitations to partici-

pate in celebrations and public ceremonies. It remained for you to

conceive the happy idea of contributing to the pleasure of the mem-
bers of this regiment by offering them the welcome and hospitality of

^n entire community.

''The enthusiastic reception of the regiment, the holiday spirit

which animated the people, the soldiery escort, the courtesy and effi-

ciency of the several committees, the elegant collation, the cordial and

hospitable receptions at private residences of citizens, the brilliant

promenade concert and last but not least the graceful and charming

participation of the ladies of Norwich in the pleasures of the day, all

and severally were fully appreciated by the officers and members of

the regiment and are remembered Avith unbounded satisfaction and

lasting gratitude.

"The decoration of public and private dwellings with allusions to

the memorable march of this regiment to the rescue and defense of

the National Capitol in 1861 was a generous tribute to its services as

Well as a memorial of your well-known patriotism.

"The loth of July, 1868, will ever maintain a proud place in the

records of the regiment and the city of Norwich will be synonymous
in our vocabulary with all that is generous and hospitable.

"AA^ith most earnest and heartfelt wishes for your health, happi-
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ness and prosperity, the undersigned officers of the Seventh Regiment,
have the honor to be your faithful friends and obedient servants.

''Armory, Seventh Regiment, X. G. S., N. Y.

"July II, 1868."

The engrossed resolutions were set in an elaborate frame of

black walnut with several characteristic designs carved thereon. At

the top of the tablet was the shield and flag of the regiment and the

flag of the United States. On the sides wxre allegorical figures rep-

resenting peace and war. Surmounting all was a gilded eagle.

Below was a panel in which was a painting of Chelsea Parade

with the regiment going through their regulation drill and the holiday

audience in evidence. This painting was one of the best Avorks of the-

famous cartoonist, Thomas Nast.

The testimonial was accepted by the city government and the

visitors were entertained during the day. At 3 p. m. a bancpiet was.

served at the Wauregan House. The testimonial was placed for

public exhibition in Yerrington's store and then loaned to the Peck

Library for several years until it finally found a resting place in the-

corridor of the new city hall.

Building Activity.

In 1869 the architects and builders found abundant employment

in providing homes for the rapidly increasing population.

Wareham Williams erected a three-story showy business build-

ing on the site of the burned Apollo building. The Norwich Lock

Co. built a new foundry on Mill Pond lane. The German Lutheran

Church on Franklin Street w^as being built at a cost of over $10,000.

The MowTy Axle & Machine Co. added a brick building 45 x 100 to

their plant at the foot of Fifth Street at a cost of $30,000. The She-

tucket Co. made a two-story addition 40x80 to their mill. The ])ig

mill at Taftville approached completion and fifty cottages were l)cing

built. At Norwich ToAvn a new school-house was dedicated October

5th. By the generous donation of $3,000 by A. P. Sturtcvant this

building was made larger and n.iore attractive and better furnished

than the district appropriation of $4,000 would permit. Lxtension of

the Avharf of the Norwich & A\'orcester Railroad was made, thus

bringing to a stage of completion this Avork which had cost $100,000

to date.

The Norwich Rural Association was organized with John T..

Wait, president; L. R. Case, secretary; B. A\'. Hyde, treasurer. The::
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followinjL^- year they l)eg-an the restoration of the monuments in the

old cemetery and set out lOO trees about the j4Teen.

Sewers were laid in Union Street, Broadway and Shetucket

Streets at a cost of 557,329.79.

State Military Encampment.

The Third Regiment pitched tents on the Holms lot on Williams

Street for the fall encampment. There were eight company streets

with 225 tents and 598 enlisted men. The camp was called Camp
\\'inship. Col. T. J. McCord was in charge of the regiment. A re-

view occurred September 17th by Governor Marshall Jewell with

his staff and guards, both horse and foot, who arrived by special train.

The governor was later given a reception at the Wauregan House
and at 10 o'clock in the evening was escorted to the ball by Mayor
Blackstone in the mammoth tent near the corner of Williams Avenue
and Washington Street. On Saturday the militia received their pay,

about $11,000 being distributed.

Dime Savings Bank Organized.

The Dime Savings Bank was organized August 28th, 1869, with

E. R. Thompson as president. About $1,000 was taken in on the

opening day and 63 bank books were issued. In the first six months

of business 1,224 books were issued and $35,616.37 deposited.

New Preston Bridge.

The lower bridge over the Shetucket River having been pro-

nounced in an unsafe condition by Hiram Cook and Elisha Spalding,

on July I, 1869, the bridge was closed for temporary repair. At a town

meeting held July 3d, Preston voted for a new bridge, the result of

the ballot being 86 for and 77 against. The voters of Norwich in

town meeting assembled on July 26th, instructed the selectmen to

build an iron bridge in place of the existing Preston toll bridge.

The old bridge Avas sold at auction August 25th for $105. A freshet

carried aAvay the middle section October 5tli. The contracts for the

bridge were signed September ist. The engineer was J. T. Fanning.

The bridge was of cantilever, lattice construction, 309 feet long and

37 feet wide. The Norwich end of the new structure was placed 17

feet farther down stream and the Preston end 10 feet farther up

stream than the old bridge. The road-bed was also raised eight feet.

The bridge cost $14,975 ^^r the abutments and piers and $26,000 for

the iron work, and was completed and opened for travel July 30, 1870.
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The Water Works Celebration.

Early in the mornino- of May 12th, 1870, people from the sur-
rounding- country poured into the city for the celebration of the com-
pletion and ultimate success of the water works.

The marshal of the grand parade was General Edward Harland.
In addition to the local military companies there were present the
Hartford City Guards, New^ London Rifles, Artillery Company G,
Scott Rifles of Sprague, Lyon Guards of Dayville and Alystic Rifles.

The local fire department had as guests Undine Engine Company of

Stonington, and South Penn Hose Company of Philadelphia.

The procession was reviewed at Chelsea Parade by Brigadier-General
Wm. G. Ely, Chief J. B. Carrier and Chief Downer of Philadelphia.

Eive hundred of the militiamen were dined at Breed Hall

The hospitality of the city was lavished on this occasion upon
the South Penn Hose Company who, on the following day,

were taken in carriages to Hyde Tavern, Yantic, where a clam bake
was served to 200 guests. The day was one of continual feasting as

lunches were served to the company as they made the rounds of the

various fire department quarters. The day ended with a banquet at

the Wauregan House in the evening.

Political Changes.

For the first time in many years the Democratic party nominees

were elected to office at the June city election in 1870. The Demo-
•cratic platform in this election was "Down with city taxes ; down
with city expenses; down with the ring; retrenchment and reform.''

James A. Hovey received 697 votes for mayor as against 356 for

Zadoc C. Crowell, the Republican nominee. The Republican party

was split up by individual squabbles and the additional l)urden of

taxes for various public improvements was beginning to be felt. The

expenses of the city had grow^n from $30,025.72 in 1866 to $56,029.85.

The city debt increased from $57,192.21 in 1867 to $367,530.28 in

.1870. Citizens of Norwich who were occupying distinguished posi-

tions in the national government in 1870, were Commodore Lanman,

who was in command of the Brazil squadron and Henry Ruggles,

who, in May, received his credentials as L^nited States Consul to

Barcelona, Spain. AA^illiam A. Buckingham was a member of the

national senate.

On June 20th, in Treadway's Hall, the central district voted to

purchase a site for a school of Henry Bill for $1,500 and to erect a

four-room building 30x50 at a cost of $6,000. The building com-
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mittee were Dr. C. Ik We])ster, Henr}-' L. Clark and \)r. \V .H.

A'lason.

In 1868 another committee had l^een chosen to erect a school-

house on Laurel Hill. They purchased a site opposite the a]jproach

to the Laurel Hill bridge for $2,000, but the taxpayers disapproved

of this locaticjn and the project had been allowed to lapse for two
years. Great excitement was caused by the new^ school-house slip-

ping- away from its foundation. Attempt was made to make it safe

hy a new supporting w^all in the rear. But this not availing it was
necessary to erect another new school building on the front of the

lot in 1874 and demolish the one built in 1870.

Visit of President Grant in 1870.

The Fourth of July celebration was made memorable by the visit

of President Grant. The train bearing the president and his dis-

tinguished iDarty reached Norwdch at 7 p. m. from Woodstock, drawn

by the engine "Wauregan," which had been built in the car shops in

Greeneville. Festoons of evergreens and flags covered the boiler on

which various mottoes had been inscribed by Richard Colburn the

master mechanic of the Norwich & Worcester Railroad. Li President

Grant's party were Henr}^ Ward Beecher, General Horace Porter,

General Stewart L. Woodford, General B. F. Butler, ex-Governors

Jewell and Hawley, Baron de Catacazy, the Russian ambassador and

others. The Norwich delegation which escorted the guests to this

city included General Edward Harland, Senator \Nm. A. Bucking-

ham, ex-Mayor Lorenzo Blackstone, Llenry B. Norton, Augustus

Brewster, Henry Bill, Colonel Selden, FL H. Osgood, the Rev. Daniel

Merriman and Frank Nichols.

An immense throng awaited the arrival of the party at the depot.

General Grant entered an open carriage and drove to Senator Buck-

ingham's residence. The remainder of his party were escorted to the

Wauregan House.

From 9 to 10 p. m. the president received 1,500 citizens of Nor-

wich in the w^est parlor of the Buckingham residence. He was as-

sisted in receiving by Senator Buckingham and Miss Ripley.

After the reception the president and others took carriages and
drove around the city, stopping at the Free Academy wdiere General

William Williams made an address of welcome. Carriages were

then taken for the Wauregan House, wdiere Mayor Hovey and the

city officials Avere in vv^aiting. From 11 to 12 there was an open re-

ception in the hotel parlor. The president then returned to Senator

Buckingham's residence whence he w^as driven at 2 o'clock in the
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morning to the West Side station where a special train was waiting.

Here a delegation from New London headed by Mayor Allen, met
the party. The company at New London boarded the steamer City

of New York, Avhich proceeded a short distance up the sound and
then turned about and put into the harbor again, landing the presi-

dent and party at the Pequot house.

Horse Railroad Begins Operations.

The first section of the new horse railroad was begun on East

Main Street, April 12th, 1870, the charter for the same having been

granted several years previously. The last spike was driven July

13th near Williams Park. Under the final sleeper was buried a vase

containing the silver coins of the year. A site at the corner of

Franklin and Bath Streets was first purchased from Gilbert Osgood
for stables. Fire afterwards partly destroyed these buildings and it

was decided to locate the stables at the two terminals of the road.

On July I, 1870, the Sturtevant lot at Bean Hill was purchased. The
horse railroad commenced operations September 12th. The cars were

the bob-tail or conductorless type.

Permission was given the Norwich Horse Railroad to use im-

proved motors by the common council September i, 1873. At the

December meeting in the same year a petition was received from

I. M. Buckingham and 66 others asking that the use of the dummy
steam engine be prevented. The council revoked the permission on

December 23d and ordered the use of the dummy or improved motor

to be discontinued.

Soldiers' Monument.

At a town meeting held October 3d, 1870, it was voted that a

tax of fifteen cents on the $100 of assessment list of the town be ap-

propriated for the erection of a suitable monument to the memory of

all soldiers and seamen who had enlisted from Norwich and died in

service during the Civil W^ar. A committee consisting of William A.

Buckingham, James A. Hovey and John T. Wait Avas appointed to

determine the design of the proposed monument and supervise its

erection. In the spring of 1873 the monument was erected at the

head of Chelsea Parade. The monument is of light granite and cost
'

$18,000.

The New Court House.

The movement for a new public building crystalized January 22,

1870, when a town meeting was held and the following resolution

passed unanimously

:

"Voted, That the tOAvn of Norwich unite with the county of New

London and with the city of Norwich in the erection of a building to

7
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be used for county, town and city purposes under provisions of gen-

eral act approved July 9, 1869, by the general assembly."

A city meeting followed Saturday, February 12th, in Treadway's

Hall, when a similar vote was passed without dissenting voice. The

various committees appointed met in the superior court room in Nor-

wich, Saturday afternoon, February 19th. On behalf of the city

there were j^resent L. Blackstone ; for the county, Franklin Potter,

of New London, A. F. Royce, 01 Franklin, James Allen, of ]\Iontville

;

and representing the town Wm. C. Osgood, Paul B. Greene and John

A. Sterry. At the first meeting it was voted that John T. Fanning be

employed to prepare plans for a building to be located on the site of

the old court house off Church Street. This lot being found to small

the commissioners on March 14th voted to locate the proposed build-

ing at the junction of Union Street and Broadway. Wm. C. Osgood

was instructed to secure the necessary land which he did, the re-

spective sums necessary being as follows : For land of Willard Bliss,

$9,000; to W. H. Cardwell, $7,000; to Mrs. L. L. Avery, $6,ooo; for

Jackson property, $7,000.

On July 9th the court house committee adopted plans of Burdick

& Arnold and excavations for the court house were begun September

15th. It was not until 1873 that any portion of the building was oc-

cupied, the police department being the first to remove. The superior

court held its first session in the building November nth. The build-

ing was no feet from front to rear and 108 feet wide; three stories

high. The basement story is of cut granite ; the other stories are of

pressed brick with granite trimmings. Gilbert L. Congdon executed

the wood work, Joseph H. Smith the masonry, and the furniture was
made by N. S. Gilbert & Sons.

The entire cost of the court house was $344,734.40; of this sum
the county paid v$2o,ooo. The judges of the court of appeals ap-

portioned the town's share at $160,125.34 and the city's at $164,609.06.

The town meeting of December 4th, 1874, adopted this apportion-

ment.

Site for St. Patrick's Church Dedicated.

In August, 1869, the house and lands belonging to the estate of

Appleton Meecli had been transferred by Henry Peale, who purchased

them at auction, to Joseph Connor and through him were conveyed

to St. Alary 's Catholic parish. The lot had a frontage of 120 feet on
Broadway and contained two acres. The amount paid for the prop-

erty was $17,000. On an adjoining lot the plans had been made in

1869 for a new church for the Trinity Episcopal Church, wdiich never

rose above the foundations. The services of dedication of this prop-
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€rty to religious uses were of a public character. On March 17th,

1870, high mass was celebrated at 10.30 at St. IMary's church, Greene-
ville, by Rev. James Hughes, of Hartford, the vicar general of the

-diocese. After the services a long line numbering 1,547 persons was
formed on the Greeneville road, under direction of Dr. Patrick Cassi-

ry, the chief marshal. Marching to Broadway the procession formed
around the new site, when John W. Murphy drove a pick into the

frozen earth and turned the first sod. After prayers of consecration

and an address by the vicar general the company marched to lireed

Hall where a dinner was served. Mayor Blackstone and the city and
town officers being guests. Addresses were made by Rev. Daniel

Mullen, curate of St. Mary's parish and others.

On Good Friday, April 7, 1871, the men of the congregation as-

sembled with shovels and picks and began the work of excavating

for the foundations for St. Patrick's Church. This was a free-will

•ofifering of the enthusiastic parishioners. The corner stone was laid

by Bishop McFarland, July 13, 1873. The first mass was offered

March 17, 1879^ and September 28th of the same year the church was

-dedicated. The walls of the church are light blue granite. The build-

ing is 210 feet long and 100 feet wide in the transept. The main

tower is 216 feet high. The church will seat 1,960 persons. It is

•estimated that the building cost about $300,000.

On Monday, April 3, 1871, the colored citizens of Connecticut

voted for the first time.

The citizens of Norwich held a meeting, October 12th, 1870, in

Treadway's Hall for the purpose of aiding the sufferers in the Chicago

iire. As a result of this meeting there was subscribed $14,898.10.

The Republican party was again triumphant in the city election

in 1871 and James Lloyd Greene was elected mayor.

Steamer New London Disaster.

The steamer City of New London, one of the freight boats of the

Norwich & New York Transportation Company anchored off ]\Iont-

ville at 4 a. m., Wednesday, November 22d, 1871, unable to proceed

up the river on account of fog. The cook was tailed to prepare the

breakfast and in raking the fires heated the poker red hot and then

laid it near a partition where it set fire to the woodwork. An alarm

was sounded and the fire extinguished as it was supposed. At 6

o'clock when the boat had proceeded above Poquetannock Cove, the

fire broke out again in some bales of cotton. The smoke drove the

engineer out of his quarters and the boat drifted helpless in the

stream. The steamer grounded only 20 feet from the easterly shore.

The lifeboats were not properly handled, so that the only hope of
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safety for the crew and passengers lay in dropping into the icy water.

Seventeen Hves were lost, including the following prominent business

men of Norwich : Caleb B. Rogers, liarrison B. Aldrich and William

T. Norton. The boat was valued at $150,000.

Mason Monument.

The committee on the monument to the memory of Major John

Mason, of which Dr. Arms was chairman, caused to be erected in

April, 1871, a simple shaft of granite at Bean Hill, near the spot

where Mason was supposed to have been buried. On the western

base is the following inscription: "Alajor John Mason, born in

England, died in Norwich, Jan. 30th, 1672, aged 73." On the sides

of the stone are also cut the names of 36 of the founders of the town..

The Mason Monument Association was incorporated by the legisla-

ture in 1871 and the first meeting of the association held September

23, 1871. Rev. H. P. Arms was president, J. L. Devotion, secretary^

John T. Wait^ treasurer.

Yantic Cove Legislation.

The common council voted on May 27, 1872, to instruct the city

attorney to apply to the general -assembly for necessary legislation

to enter upon and take possession of Yantic Cove, to survey and
stake out proper channels for the water and to fill in and make such

use as the city deemed best of the remaining area. The legislature

on July 24th approved of an act giving the necessary authority and
the common council appointed a special committee to consider the

situation. It being found that C. B. Rogers & Co. claimed to have

acquired title to the land in Yantic Cove above the railroad track and
had expended a large sum in filling the same, it was voted on October

20, 1873 by the common council to pay C. B. Rogers & Co. $10,000

for said land and buildings thereon and a right of way 40 feet wide
from Main Street. The sum of $625 was appropriated to Amasa C
Hall for land taken for Falls Avenue.

Streets Widened.

In 1872 and 1873, notable changes were made on North Thames
Street, on Franklin Street between Bath Street and Durkey Lane,

on Market Street at the corner of Water Street and on Main Street

at the corner of Washington Street. By vote of the court of common
council new layouts of the highway at these points Avere approved
and the enlargements made. In the two years the sum of $49,707.50
was paid by the city for land damages.
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Park Congregational Church.

On May 8, 1873, ground was broken for a new Cono-reoational

Church on the Plain. On July 12th the corner stone of the building

was laid. On March 17, 1874, the new church organized as the Park
Congregational Church. On April 12th, the new chapel was ready

for occupancy. The church was completed and dedicated November
1 8th. The church is cruciform, Norman style, and constructed of

Portland stone.

Greeneville Bridge.

The Greeneville bridge erected ii years previously at a cost

of $20,000, was found in an unsafe condition in May, 1873, ^^^^ ordered

closed for temporary repairs. This was the third bridge erected at

this point in a quarter of a century. The first yielded to the winds,

the second to fire. Contracts were let in the fall of 1873- a new
iron bridge upon agreement between the two towns of Norwich and

Preston.

Mayor Greene's Resignation.

On July 6, 1874, James Lloyd Greene tendered his resignation

as mayor. Mayor Greene had served for seven years, giving his

entire time to the city. A violent attack was made upon his admin-

istration on account of the growing expenditures and he accepted a

re-election in June, 1874, as a vindication, and resigned at the earliest

opportunity. An election to choose his successor was held August

5th. Only one ticket was in the field and Mr. Greene found himself

the choice of 408 votes of the 414 cast.

Greeneville, Laurel Hill and Boswellville.

The common council on April 21st, 1874, voted that an applica-

tion be made to the general assembly for an extension of the city

limits. The legislature in May voted that the question of extension

of the city limits to Greeneville, Boswellville and Laurel Hill be de-

•cided by vote of these respective districts. The Greeneville school

<iistrict voted to come into the city September 7th, the result of the

ballot being 195 for and 191 against. Laurel Hill and Boswellville

voted not to accept annexation but by act of the legislature June 24,

1875, both of these districts were annexed. City w^ater was at once

introduced into Greeneville at a cost of $41,296.50 for new mains

and services.
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Various Matters.

The Eliza IJnntin^ton Memorial Home was established in 1872-

through the beneficence of Tedediah Huntington, who on his death

March 23d, left his home and $35,000 in cash to found a retreat for

aged and infirm women in memory of his wife.

About 100 volunteers of the Norwich Fire Department Avere

taken to Boston by special train November 10, 1872, to assist in check-

ing the conflagration which wiped out nearly the entire business

portion of the town. Two steamers—the old Wauregan and the

Delanoy—and the Wauregan Hook & Ladder carriage ^vere taken by
the firemen who were subsequently tendered the thanks of the Boston

authorities for the valuable aid rendered. Mayor Greene and other

leading citizens accompanied the firemen to Boston.

On October 5, 1874, Norwich, by a vote of 925 to 700, voted

''no-license." Liquor selling did not cease until July 25th, 1875,

a number of licenses did not expire until that date.

Trinity Episcopal Church erected a new toAver on their church

in 1874. .

The Independence Hose house was erected in 1874 at a cost of

$7,410.74, including the lot.

In Conclusion.

For the purpose of giving a glimpse of the characteristics of the

people of Norwich, the years 1865 to 1875 have been selected for a

review of the local history. The same spirit of enterprise, charity,,

hospitality and benevolence has continued to the present time and
the years 1875 to 1909 furnish abundant proof that public works and

industrial grow^th have not been neglected. Norwich is bigger,

better and busier now than ever before and the further w^ater-pow'er

development and the rapid increase in real estate values are evidences

that a greater expansion is at hand.

No recent history of Norwich can omit a reference to the ex-

traordinary benefactions of William A. Slater, a native of Norwich,

but now a resident of Washington, D. C. As a result of his suppprt

and interest and largely through his immense benefactions there

were added to the city's public buildings, in a very few 3'ears, the

Slater Memorial, the Y. C. A. building, Broadway Theatre and

the AV. Backus Hospital, all of which contribute immeasurably

to the educational and social life and comfort of the community.
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We carry the largest stock of Tires,

Tubes and Automobile Supplies of any
house in Connecticut.
We are agents for New London and

Windham Counties for

PEERLESS, OLDSMOBILE
and CADILLAC CARS,

which meets the approval of the critical

and experienced purchaser.
We have sold over 150 in the last

three seasons, which speaks for itself.

THE A. C. SWAN CO.,
276 MAIN STREET.
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Ladies', Gentlemen's and Children's

CLOTHING,
MILLINERY, HATS and SHOES.

GATELY & BRENNAN,
29 and 31 Shetucket Street, Norwich, Conn.

FOR ALL THE NEWS
OF THE

250th Anniversary
READ THE

Norwich Evening Record,
AND YOU WILL NOT BE DISAPPOINTED.

Printing
OF ALL KINDS IS DONE RIGHT AND AT THE

RIGHT PRICE AT THE

Record Job Office,
101 and 103 BROADWAY. Opposite City Hall.

CLEWORTH & PULLEN.

A. D. LATHROP,
DEALER IN

LIGHT AND HEAVY TEAMING.

Corner Market and Shetucket Streets.
HOUSE, 333 EAST MAIN STREET.
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TYLER D. GUY,
Representing

ine rcnn mutual

Life Insurance Co.

of Philadelphia,

8 Union Street.

Telephone.

CHURCH & ALLEN,

funeral Directors atid embaltners,

15 Main Street, Carroll Block.

Telephone 328-3.

R. BENTON DIBBLE,

PLUMBING
and HEATING.
Shop, 46 Asylum A Street.

Residence, IB West Pearl Street.

Telephone Connection.

Rumford & Champlin,
BEST OF

Beef, Lamb, Pork,

Veal and Poultry,

19 Franklin Street.

Telephone 225.

W. F. BAILEY,
Hack, Livery and

Boarding Stable,

12 Bath Street.

Telephone 883.

Automobile is sold by

M. B. RING, The Carriage Man,

Who will demonstrate

and receive orders at his

Factory, Chestnut Street, Norwich, Donn.
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THE UNITED STATES
FINISHING CO.,

^intsl^ers of

(Eotton piece (Boobs

320 Broadway, New York.

WORKS AT
Norwich, Conn., Sterling, Conn.,

Passaic, N. J.,

Pawtucket, R. I., Providence, R. I.

/
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Established 1846.

J. P. Barstow & Co.
Sanitary Plumbing,

GAS FITTING
and FIXTURES,

TIN ROOFING
and JOBBING.

RICHMOND RANGES,
STOVES,

FURNACES,
STEAM and

HOT WATER
HEATERS.

Wholesale and Retail
Dealers in

SEEDS, FERTILIZERS,
FARM IMPLEMENTS,
REFRIGERATORS

and KITCHEN
FURNISHINGS.

23 and 25 Water Street.

Dominick 6c Dotninck,
FOUNDED 1870.

Members of the New York Stock Exchange.

BANKERS and BROKERS.

United States Government Bonds,

High-grade Investments

and GUARANTEED STOCKS.

ORDERS EXECUTED IN

Stocks and Bonds. Wheat and Cotton.

NORWICH BRANCH: Qj Bvoadv/ay.
TELEPHONE 901. ERANK O. MOSES, Manager
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INCORPORATED 1833.

71 MAIN STREET.

Capital Stock,

Surplus, - -

$100,000

$25,000

OFFICERS.
PRESIDENT,

COSTELLO LIPPITT.

CASHIER,
CHARLES H. PHELPS.

VICE-PRESIDENT,

F. L. WOODARD.

ASS'T CASHIER,

ARTHUR E. STORY.

DIRECTORS,
COSTELLO LIPPITT, CHARLES H. PHELPS,

CALVIN L. HARWOOD, FRANK L. WOODARD,
LUCIUS BROWN, ALBERT L. POTTER,

JOSEPH HALL.
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M. U. ADAMS, Treas. L. J. SAXTON, Agent.

Clinton Mills Co.
NORWICH TOWN, CONN.

MANUFACTURERS OF

Broadcloths, Carriage Cloths and
Billiard Cloths.

The Pelicince Worsted CoiiApcinu.

Woolen and Worsted Goods
For Ladies' and Men's Wear.

And all Kinds or Woolen and Meiino Yarns.
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The Norwich Automatic Exerciser and Feeder

FOR AUTOMATICALLY FEEDING POULTRY,

Practically eliminates the care of the poultry
yard, and saves 20/^ of grain, exercises
flock, and

Increases

Egg Pro-

duction !

RAT PROOF,

RAIN PROOF,

RUST PROOF.

SOLD UNDER GUARANTEE AND
MANUFACTURED BY

NORWICH AUTOMATIC FEEDER CO., 16 Water St., Norwich, Conn.

Norwich Supply Company,
16 WATER STREET, NORWICH, CONN.
^^^^^^^

Pipe

Fittings,

Valves,

Shafting,

Pulleys,

Hangers,

Plumbers

and Mill

Supplies.

AGENTS FOR

DUNTLEY MANUFACTURING CO., Chicago, III.,

STANDARD VACUUM CLEANERS

RIDER-ERICSSEN ENGINE CO., New York City, N. Y.,

HOT AIR PUMPING ENGINES.
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J. L. LATHROP & SONS,

^ Fire Insurance and Real Estate ^
Let us insure your Automobile in the Aetna Life

of Hartford*

28 Shetucket Street, - - NORWICH, CONN.

C. E CHANDLER
and S. B. PALMER,

Civil Engineers
and Surveyors,

161 Main Street.

POWERS BROS.,

UTLEY & JONES, SEA FOOD,

10 Rose Place,

Trusses,

Franklin Square,

Supporters,

Elastic Stockings. MURPHY & NICHOLS,

149 Main Street,

Norwich, Conn.

NORWICH
5g10 CENT STORE.

110 Main Street.
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JAMES L. CASE, Broker,

AO Shetucket St., INorwich, Conn.
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The Ulmer Leather Company.

WATERPROOr

None Better made for the Work.
Goes further and sets quicker than any cement of a similar

kind, and best of all it holds the joints and is flexible.

SACHEM" Brand Oak Bark

Tanned Leather Belting is " Just the

Best" in every sense of the word,

strictly first-class, short lap, center stock belt, with

cement and workmanship.

It represents a

the best of leather

It is fully guaranteed and you run no chance in using it in any part

of your plant. For special work we will make a special belt if you will

only say the word.

This is a special mineral tanned belt, fastened

with waterproof cement, entirely different from any
other belt tannage, and is particularly adapted for high speed and small pulleys

in oily places, such as screw cutting machines. It absorbs oil very slowly, in

fact so slowly that it is practically a non-oil absorbing belt. The leather will

withstand heat, moisture, gases and acid fumes better than any other belt

made. "THE BELT YOU CAN BOIL AND NOT HURT."

fe ALPHAS)

THE ULMER LEATHER COMPANY, Norwich, Conn.



Underwood Escapement
Is the Envy of Every Typewriter Maker

It is more correctly designed—costs more

—

is better made—and gives the Underwood
a greater durability than any other
Typewriter on the market. The quick,

whip-like action of the type bar, and
its relation to the escapement move-
ment is the reason for the extraordinary

rapidity of writing possible only on the

UNDERWOOD
STANDARD

TYPEWRITER
The originator of writing-insight'* construction

The perfection of the Underwood Type-
writer has opened the field and invited our

many special forms of "built-in" tabula-

tors and modern book-keeping appliances.

When you buy a typewriter, don't buy a "Trailer"

—get the machine that has always led the way.

Let us show you a few of its exclusive features,

and you will see why the Underwood is

T^e Machine You
Will Fventually Buy

THE UNDERWOOD TYPEWRITER CO., Inc.
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Richmond
Boilers

j^'T^\^:HE water line of the Richmond extends to the

i3
bottom of the ash pit. It therefore absorbs

y=^e=^ the heat of the ashes and warms the water
before it reaches the fire. Thus Richmond Boilers

have no dead line of ashes adjoining water surfaces.

Common boilers are perched on separate bases and
cold water enters them at the fire level. The result is

a chilled fire—more coal. There are countless other

Richmond Boiler economies.

The McCrum-Howell Co.

GENERAL OFFICES:

Park Ave. and 41st Street,

New York City.

FACTORY:
Norwich, Conn.
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Charles A. Kuebler,
39 and 41 FRANKLIN STREET,

NORWICH, CONN.

DESIGNER AND BUILDER OF

FINE
Monumental Work.



CARTRIDGES

S SINCE 1816

R FORTYYEARS
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H. L. TOWER,
Veterinarian.

Diseases of Dogs a Specialty.

OFFICE

:

BATH STREET,

Telephone Connection.

The fm\^ Studio,

Artistic

Home Furnishings,

31 WILLOW ST,

NOR WICH, CONN.

DELICIOUS

ICE CREAM

and BONBONS,

Wholesale and Retail.

Ice Cream delivered

to any part oftliecity.

TRADE;jMARtO''

ESTABLISHED 1901.

CALIFORNIA

FRUITS

of all kinds.

Telephone 529-2.

Brick Ice Cream

keeps hard 1 hour

:231 iVIAirV STRBBT, F^RAINICUIIV SQUARE.

CHARLMS SLOSBMRG,
Wholesale and Retail Dealer in

Hay^ Graitiy Feed and Flour.
LARGE STOCK AT LOWEST PRICES.

II and 13 COVE STREET.

Chelsea Line
Only direct all water route between Norwich

and New York.

FREIGHT and PASSENGER.

Write for Folder. C. A. WHITAKER, Agent.
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The PorteousS Mitchell Co.

The Largest Department Store
in Eastern Connecticut.

Our store premises comprise more than 36,000 square feet

of floor space devoted to a display of Dry Goods, Millinery,

Men's and Women's Shoes, Men's and Boys' Clothing, Hats,

Furnishings, Etc. We are striving each year that goes by to

build a BIGGER AND A BETTER STORE, and all of oui ef-

I

forts are directed toward that end.

RELIABILITY shall represent the corner stone of our
"Bigger Store." All merchandise must be reliable and \vorthy,

in order to find a biding place here, and stocks must be abundant
and carefully selected.

RIGHT PRICES shall be the supporting pillars of the
various floors when goods are being sold. A large business
with small margin of profit being our idea, rather than a small
business with necessarily bigger prices.

HONEST ADVERTISING, transparent as truth, shall con-
stitute the walls of our ideal Department Store, through which
the public may at all times see exact merchandise conditions.

Goods ever "just a little better than advertised." "If you read
it in our Advertisement, it's positively so."

Our depantments are located as follows:—
Third Floor, Bulletin Building—A commodious waiting room, Carpets,

Rugs, Mattings, Oil Cloths, Upholstery, etc.

Second Floor, Bulletin Building—Women's, Misses' and Children's
Garments, Corsets, Muslin Underwear and Shoes.

Main Floor, Westerly Store—A complete "Men's Store," everjiihing in

Men's wearables.

Main Floor, Bulletin Building—Dress Goods, Silks, Linings, Paper
Patterns, Boys' Clothing.

Main Store—Hosiery, Underwear, Gloves, Handkerchiefs, Ribbons,
Laces, Hamburgs, Trimmings, Art Goods, Small Wares, Toilet Articles,

Leather Goods, etc.

Annex—A room devoted to High-Grade Millinery.

Down Stairs—Table Linens, Bed vSpreads, Cottons, Ginghams, Prints,

Wash Goods, Crockery and Kitchen Furnishings.

THE PORTEOUS & MITCHELL CO.,
NORWICH, CONN.
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Insurance.

A. B. BEEMAN, J. A. ALLEN, GEO. A. ALLEN,
Pres. Asst. Treas. & Manager New London Dept. Sec, Treas. &Gen. Manager.

Established 1891. Incorporated 1905.

THE ALUEIN=BBEIVIAIN CO.,
WHOLESALE DEALERS AND JOBBERS OE

Fancy Butter, Cheese, Eggs, Fruit, Produce
and Provisions.

COLD STORAGE WAREHOUSE. Branch House, 40 Golden St., New London, Conn.

33, 35 & 37 Commerce St., Norwich, Comi.

SHERWOOD B. POTTER,
Groceries, Meats, Hay and Grain,

410 Main Street.

Telephone.

Bisket, Pitcher & Co.,

253 Central Ave.

For Watches and
and Watch Re-
pairing go to

FRISWELL'S,
25-27 Franklin Street.
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The Glen Woolen Mills,
MANUFACTURERS OF

DRESS GOODS, CLOAKINGS,
SUITINGS and FINE THIBETS.

Mills at Norwich Town, Conn.

The J . A. Cloran Realty Company,
P.O. Box 223. Tel. 720. NORWICH, CONN.
We sell "T^T^ /^"T^T^ T'^'T^XZ
manage F IvOl tlV 1 1 UnUed
develop States.

YOU SHOULD BUY
PLEASANT VIEW BEACH LOTS,

WESTERLY. R. L

THE UNCAS POWER CO., Norwich, Conn.
INCORPORATED 1905. ORGANIZED 1906.

Capital Stock, $300,000.

GENERATORS OF HYDRO-ELECTRICITY.

The onl.y dam of this type In New Eng'land.

This Company is now furnishing all the electricity used by the City of Norwich, for ligrht,

power, &c. It is estimated that the consumption by the city will approximate 2,000,000 K.W.
annually, or about one-third of the capacity of this plant. The company has contracted for
nearly one half of its surplus product, to furnish light and 'power for Willimantic, Stafford
Springs and Rockville. -There are sixty-six individual stockholders, composed very largely of
men prominently connected with Norwich and Norwich interests.

OFF/Cf:/J5: -President, CHARLES W. COMSTOCK. Secretary, JOHN D. HALL.
Treasurer, ZEBULON R. ROBBINS.
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Up-tO'Date Soda,

College Ices, Milk Shakes,

Ice Cream Soda, Egg Drinks,

Sevin's Drug Store^

118 Main Street.

Shampooing, Manicuring, Chiropody, Facial Mas-
sage, Children's Hair Cutting, Hair Cutting,

Hair Goods, Spirella Corsets,

MRS. B. BURTON,
Room 4, Chapman Building, 65 Broadway, Norwicli, Conn.

Telephone 553-3.

DR. C. R. CHAMBERLAIN,
W. B. SMITH & CO.,

Members of Consolidated

Stock Exchange of

New York and Chicago

Board of Trade,

G. F. BLOOD, Manager.

Telephone.

161 Main Street,

Norwich, Conn.

Telephone Connection.

A- B. KINGSBURY,

JEWELER,
Watches, Diamonds, Jewelry,

and Solid Silver.

First in Quality. Lowest in Price.

115 Main Street, Norwicli, Conn.

G. W. HAMILTON,

Shoes,
130 Main Street.

F. E. BECKWITH,

Carpenter

and Builder,

Central Wharf,
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J. B. STODDARD,
AGENT FOR

Ford Automobiles, Ferro Ma-
rine Engines, Mullin 's Steel

Launches, Gasoline, Oils,

Auto and Launch
Supplies.

FerrolMarine E„gine-3-Cylinder. GARAGE, 127 Fraoklin St.

1870 NORWICH MARBLE & GRANITE WORKS 1909
JOHN C. QUINLAN.

Monumental and /^^v^ l^X'^lt
Bailamg WOrK

ji^ Modem Methods,

from all kinds ^jlim^^^^r First-class Work

Cemetery Supplies
''''''"Tl'e^t T''"'"'^

Telephone connection. ^^^^^^^^^S^KiajgjjiJPlrf^^ ^ PRICKS RIGHT.

V. S. STETSON. W. C. YOUNG.

STETSON & YOUNG,

Central Wharf.

JOHN McWILLIAMS, HENRY G. PECK.

Peck, McWiliiams & Co.,

General Contractors and Builders.

Dealers in Builders* Materials*

47-55 West Main Street,

Central Wharf, Norwich, Conn,
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HALL Brothers,
MANUFACTURERS OF

Dress Goods, Cassimeres,
Cloakings,
Overcoatings and
Ladies' Suitings.

tactortes.
| Thames Valley Mills.

Office: 29-31 Commerce St.

^ The leading Merchants in AH Lines of Trade of
^

Norwich and Vicinity Give the Famous

"GREEN TRADING STAMP" AS AN INDUCEMENT FOR
YOUR CASH TRADE.

The ''Sperry & Hutchinson
Green Trading Stamp"

proposition is recognized by commercial organizations and leading

merchants everywhere in every line of retail business

as the greatest and most important factor for

the inducement of cash trade.

NORWICH TRADING STAMP CO.,

37 Shetucket St. SPERRY & HUTCHINSON, Props.



THE NORWICH BOARD OF TRADE QUARTERLY

The A. H. Hubbard Co.

MANUFACTURERS OF

COLORED PRINTING

AND

COVER PAPERS,

NORWICH, CONN,
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Mr. Manufacturer !

Follow President^aft's Example !

Come to Norwich !

In addition to our many other advantages, we now
I

offer you the following exceedingly low rates for

ELECTRIC POWER:
From 1 to 500 K. W. Hrs. used in one

month, 5c per K. W. H. For all quantities

over 500 used in one month, 5c per K. W. H.

for 500, and 2c per K. \V. H. for the balance.

At the above rates the average cost per

H. P. Year for different capacities, figured

on nine hours per day and 300 days per

year, will be as follows:

10 H. P. average cost per H. P. $58.27

25 H. P. " " " " 47.48

50 H. P. " " " " 43.88

100 H. P. " " " " 42.00

THE ROSE OF NEW ENGLAND'' is destined to

become nationally known as THE HOME OF CHEAP
MANUFACTURING POWER.

City of Norwich

Gas and Electrical Department.
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Established 1845. Incorporated 1901.

THE NORWICH BELT MAN'F'G COJ"

TANNERS AND MANUFACTURERS OF

TAU-BO"
Green Hide Picker Leather.======= RAWHIDE LACE

Combination Tanned and Chrome Lace Leather.

SUPERIOR OAK LEATHER BELTING.
JANNED 'beS

COMBlNATK^?Hotj|ECT,Nci ''ACME"
THAPE MARK CHROME BELTING.

Rubber and Canvas Belting,

Steel Split Pulleys,

Wood Pulleys,

Condenser Aprons,
Comb and Gill Box Aprons.

Oak Pump Valve Leather.

Chrome Tanned Sole Leather.

Chrome Tanned Automobile Leather.

Office and Tannery:

North Main Street, Norwich, Conn.

BRANCH OFFICES:
115 Washington Boulevard, Chicago, 111.

178 South Main Street, Providence, R. I.
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Travel by Telephone

O the butcher, the baker, the

candlestick maker. Then com-

pare this means with any

other and see which is the more economical

and convenient.

Think of the emergencies that are liable

to arise during the day or night and then

consider whether you can afford to be

without telephone protection.

Remember that the best grade of residence

telephone service costs less than ten cents

per day, and that we offer other grades

at a lower figure.

A telephone call or post card to our

Manager's office will bring full information

immediately.

TheSouthernNewEngland
Telephone Co.
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W. H. CARDWELL,

3 to 9 Market Street.

Over 50 years conducting the same business.

C. E. BRADY,

American House

Stables,

Shetucket Street.

Metropolitan Life

Insurance Company

of New York.

Assets, ^ ^ $236,927,361,19,

District Office, 28 Shetucket St,

Norwich, Conn,

M. C. HIGGINS, Supt.

Frederick W. Lester

IHusic blooms

42-43 Central Building.

GEORGE G. GRANT,

Livery Connection.

Rear Providence Street, Taftville.

Telephone.
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THE PLACE FOR YOUR

Marketing.
Order in Person, by Telephone or Mail.

PEOPLE'S MARKET,
JUSTIN HOLDEN, Prop. 6 FRANKLIN STREET,

CHARLES E. WHITNEY.
Real Estate and Insurance,

227 Main Street, Franklin Sq.

Agent for the

Purchase, Sale, Exchange,
Renting and Care of

REAL ESTATE.
###

PLATE GLASS INSURANCE.

FIRE INSURANCE
at lowest rates in sound, reliable

companies.

###
ACCIDENT INSURANCE.

THE NEW PERFECTION WICK

Blue Flame Oil Stove
INSTANTANEOUS
SMOKELESS
ODORLESS
ECONOMICAL

Simple in operation.

Heat where heat is needed.

Maximum of service at minimum of cost.

An ideal summer cooking stove.

Ask your dealer to show them to you, or write

Standard Oil Co.^i^corporated)
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SHEA & BURKE,
DEALERS IN

Furniture, Carpets, Stoves, and
Oil Cloths.

UNDERTAKING AND EMBALMING.
TELEPHONE.

37—41 MAIN STREET, - - NORWICH, CONN.

TELEPHONE 580.

S. GrIBSOlsr,

TllSr ANJy SHEET
METAL WORKER,
55 West Main Street.

20^ Century
Printing Office

Latest New Type
Linotype-casting Machines

Perfecting Presses

Electric Macliinery

Stereotyping Department

Everything Under One Roof

The Bulletin Company
66-74 Franklin Street, Norwich.
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lence of H. M. Pollock, M, D., Superiuteiuieut of the Norwich State Hospital,
Norwich, Conu, Cudworth & Woodworth, Architects, Norwich, Conn,

PARKER,

PRESTON & CO S

sningiG stains.

(Waterproof and Odorless.)

NORWICH, CONN.

ATTAWAUGAN CO.,

TOTOKETT MFG. CO.,

Cotton Goods.

Post Cards
Souvenirs,

Toys, Dolls,Wagons, Base-

ball Goods, Baskets,

Stationery, Bird Cages, Etc.

Mrs. EDwTn fay,
247 Main Street.

TAKE ELEVATOR

Mrs. T. B. Robinson,

Domestic

Bakery,

82 Franklin Street.

0. H. REYNOLDS.
Carriages Furnished for Weddings,

Parties and Funerals.

Hack, Livery and

Boarding Stable.

Orders by Telegraph, Telephone

or Mail promptly attended to.

55 to 75 Shetucket St-'^^^'c^^NN.
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IVORWICH, COININ.

"The Leading Store in Eastern

Connecticut Devoted Exclusively to

Men's, Women's and Children's
Wearing Apparel."

PEOPLE'S COAL CO.,

74 1 names tStreet.

L. R. CHURCH, Prop.

TREAT'S PHARMACY,

New Haven Dairy Ice Cream

in Bricks.

Cor. Franklin and Willow Sts.

L W. CARROLL & SON,

X aiiiTS, iviiii ouppiies,

Nos. 17-19-21 Water St.

Shetucket Harness Co.,

Trunks, Traveling Articles

and Leather Novelties,

283 Main Street.

^^^^ ATTENTION !

^^KF Switches and Bands,

uUdrdlllGcQ TO 06 1116 Dtol al mc liiOSl ledSOilaDIc

PRICES.

Puffs, Pompadours and Curls.

0. STABENOW, - 17 Broadway.

JAS. A. HISCOX. Woodworking Shop and Jobbing.

Telephone. Myers Alley, off Franklin and Main Streets.



THE

TURNER & STANTON

COMPANY,
Manufacturers of

Picture and Shade

Cords,

and Hardware.

JOSEPH HALL, President.

JESSE H. STANTON, Sales Manager.

FRANK C. TURNER,
Treasurer and General Manager.

Telephone

Private Line 890.

Hello: Good Morning!
I CALL YOU UP TO TELL

YOU THAT

GEO. W. CARROLL,
DBALER IN,

Bonds,Stocksand
Real Estate,

NORWICH, CONN.

OFFICE, 40 SHETUCKET ST. Leng Distance Phone

Makes a specialty of dealing in

Local Securities, both Bonds and
Stocks, and should like to have you
call him up and let him quote you
prices on what he has to offer.

"NORWICH"
Steam and Water Boilers

FOR

HOUSE HEATING.
Economical, Dustless,

Substantial, Gas Tight,

Safe, No Escaping Smoke.

Easy to attend and regulate.

Better Boilers cannot be made.

Call and examine, or send for catalog,

before buying.

THeJohn T.Young Boiler Co
INDUSTRIAL BUILDING,

NORWICH, - CONN.



Office, '54 BROADWAY.

Hours: 10.30 to 12.30 A.M.

2.30 to 4 and 7 to 8 P. M.

No Morning Hours Sunday.

Telephone.

DWARD P. BREWER, M. D.,

Eye, Ear, Nose

and Throat.

Residence : 89 Union Street,

NORWICH, CONN.

J. K. JENNES,

leaiilDi ToMccoDlsl,

56 BROADWAY,

Carries a complete Line of Imported

and Domestic Cigars, also a full line

of Briar, Merschaum and Calabash

Pipes.

WELCOME
to our store, not only during

Anniversary week, but

ALWAYS.

TMPlaiit-CaHilenCo

MAIN ST.,

NORWICH, CONN.

Established 1872.

Incorporated 1899.

PIANOS,
Organs, Phonographs, Records

Talking Machines, Sheet Music

Jewelry, Optical Goods, Etc.

eulletm frint, (B^^^ Norwioh, Coon.
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HECKMAN
BINDERY INC.

|
§1

MAR 97
Bound -To.Pleas^ f^in^^^P';'!!?INDIANA 46962
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